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DECLARATION OF THE INDIVIDUALS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE HALF-YEAR 

FINANCIAL REPORT 

I. Person responsible for the half-year financial report 

 

Chairman of the Board of Directors and General Manager 

Jacques Dikansky 

Date of appointment 

14 June 2006 

Date mandate expires 

General Meeting voting on the financial statements for the period ending 31 December 2011 

II. Certification 

 
"I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, that the summarised financial statements for the past 
half-year were drawn up in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that they 
are a true and fair reflection of the financial situation and results of the parent and all of the 
companies within the consolidation scope, and the half-year management report hereinafter is a fair 
reflection of the major events that occurred during the first six months of the financial period, of 
their impact on the financial statements, of the main related party transactions as well as a 
description of the main risks and uncertainties for the remaining six months of the financial period. » 
 
 
 
24 August 2011, 
 
 
 
Jacques Dikansky 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
 

The half-year financial report including in particular the consolidated financial statements and the 

notes as well as the half-year management report at 30 June 2011, were approved by the Company's 

Board of Directors on 24 August 2011. 
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III. Financial information 

 

Person responsible for the financial information 

Thierry Lambert 

Vice-President and CFO 

Telephone: +33 4 90 23 96 89 

Email: t.lambert@naturex.com 

 

 

Financial Communication / Investor Relations 

Carole Alexandre 

Telephone: +33 4 90 23 96 89 

E-mail : c.alexandre@naturex.com 

 

 

 

The memorandum and the articles of association of NATUREX S.A. as well as all of the legal 

documents and the historical financial information for prior periods can be consulted at the 

Company's head office: 

Pôle Technologique d’Agroparc – BP 1218 – 84 911 Avignon Cedex 09 

 

All of the press releases and documents published by the NATUREX Group are also made available to 

the public on the Internet website  www.naturex.com. 

 

  

mailto:t.lambert@naturex.com
mailto:c.alexandre@naturex.com
http://www.naturex.com/
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PRESENTATION OF NATUREX 
World leader in specialty plant-based ingredients 

 

NATUREX produces and sells specialty plant-based ingredients for the food, nutraceutical, 

pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries. 

 

NATUREX's strength is in knowing how to develop genuine expertise on specific products that form 

market niches, allowing it to provide customers with customised solutions, in compliance with 

regulatory requirements.  

 

For many years now, NATUREX's strategy has revolved around two aspects, sustained organic growth 

and constant external growth, as such positioning itself as the world leader in the specialty plant-

based ingredients market. 

 

This strategy has allowed NATUREX to increase its size substantially by multiplying its revenue by 

twenty over the last ten years, which gives it recognised know-how and legitimacy in integrating 

companies or branches of activity and in creating value. 

 

The success of NATUREX is based on a proven economic model, of which the main engines are: 

- A high degree of expertise in the sourcing of raw materials in more than 50 countries around 

the world; 

- Quality-certified high-performance industrial resources across its 11 industrial sites in Europe 

(France, Italy, Spain, United Kingdom and Switzerland), in Morocco, the United States (New 

Jersey and California), Brazil and Australia; 

- A sustained Research & Development programme; 

- A product offering with high value added, segmented around three complementary markets 

(Food & Beverage, Nutrition & Health, Personal Care); 

- A fully dedicated sales network in 19 countries (France, Italy, Spain, United Kingdom, 

Belgium, Germany, Switzerland, Russia, U.A.E., Thailand, Singapore, Japan, China, Korea, 

Australia, United States, Canada, Brazil and Mexico). 

 

In addition, NATUREX enjoys the highly favourable underlying trend linked to increasing worldwide 

demand, including in the emerging countries, for healthy natural-origin products, supported by 

stricter and stricter regulations in this area. 
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I. Highlights of the half-year 

Fiscal year 2010 was marked by the successful integration in record time of the Ingredients Division 

of Natraceutical, acquired in December 2009. 

This extensive operation allowed the Group to double its size and impose itself as a world leader in 

specialty plant-based ingredients, generating very strong organic growth operating performance that 

was higher than the annual targets that were announced. 

The first half of fiscal year 2011 confirmed this dynamic under the combined effects of a reinforced 

and unified structure, an enhanced product range and sales synergies that have benefited all of the 

various markets and geographical regions. 

An expanded product offering 

The products in the Ingredients Division of Natraceutical have not only made it possible to reinforce 

the four ranges of Naturex products in the Food & Beverage division, but also to enrich the portfolio 

with three additional ranges in fruit and vegetable powders, apple and citrus pectins and a natural 

sweetener (TALIN), of which one of the properties is to mask bitterness. 

This complementarity was also beneficial to the two other markets, Nutrition & Health and Personal 

Care, in terms of innovation and new outlets. 

As such, these enhanced product ranges, combined with the scientific and technical expertise of the 

NATUREX teams, have made it possible to propose new applications in adequacy with customer 

expectations. 

Reinforcing international positions 

Backed with reinforced industrial and sales positioning in fiscal 2010 following the integration of the 

Ingredients Division of Natraceutical, NATUREX, during the first half-year, continued developing is 

sales network with the opening of three sales offices in Korea, Canada and Mexico. 

On 30 June 2011, NATUREX has locations on five continents via its perfectly-integrated sales network 

in 19 countries (France, Italy, Spain, United Kingdom, Belgium, Germany, Switzerland, Russia, U.A.E., 

Thailand, Singapore, Japan, China, Korea, Australia, United States, Canada, Brazil and Mexico). 

This enlarged geographical presence has major strategic advantages and makes it possible to: 

- strengthen relations with NATUREX's customers around the world;   

- form local sales relays near the main production sites; 

- penetrate certain markets thanks to local presence. 
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 Legal structure on 30 June 2011 
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II. Analysis of the activity in the half year 

Naturex confirms its dynamism 

+13.1% growth in H1 sales on a comparable basis 

€K 
IFRS 
Unaudited data 

Fiscal year 2011 Fiscal year 2010 
 

Change % Change %  
on a comparable 

basis 

Q1 64,021 51,611 +24.0% +17.5% 

Q2 63,904 60,478 +5.7% +9.3% 

H1 revenue 127,925 112,089 +14.1% +13.1% 

 

For the 1st half of fiscal year 2011, NATUREX's revenue amounted to € 127.9 million, up +14.1% 

compared to the 1st half of the previous period. 

On a comparable basis, organic growth for the half year stands at +13.1%, in line perfectly with the 

annual target of double-digit growth in sales that was announced in March 2011. 

The performance over the first two quarters of 2011 demonstrates the technical know-how as well 

as the commercial dynamism of Naturex on markets that are sustainably promising. 

- Activity in Q1 2011 has very strong growth of +24.0% at € 64.0 million, compared to € 51.6 

million one year before.  

At constant currencies, organic growth stands at +17.5%; 
 

- Activity in Q2 2011 is well-oriented despite the less favourable exchange rate effects over the 

period and an exceptionally high comparison base in 2010.  

On a comparable basis, growth the Q2 is 9.3%. 
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II.1 Analysis of revenue by market and geographical region 

 

Sustained growth over the various markets 

 

Food & Beverage Nutrition & Health Personal Care Miscellaneous Total 

78.4 40.3 1.2 8.0 127.9 

+17.6% +5.5% -4.3% +35.0% +14.1% 

 

 

Activity in the half-year is showing sustained growth in the Food & Beverage and Nutrition & Health 

markets, driven in particular by the extension of the product range and the move towards perfectly 

targeted innovative technical solutions. 

- The Food & Beverage activity had very 

dynamic growth of +17.6% (+13.8% on a 

comparable basis) with € 78.4 million in 

revenue in a particularly active market 

that benefitted from the rapidly 

increasing demand worldwide for 

natural-origin products; 

- The Nutrition & Health activity generated € 

40.3 million in revenue, up +5.5% (+8.9% on 

a comparable basis) thanks to the 

development of specific health effect 

ingredients, designed to be incorporated 

into a multitude of applications (dietary 

supplements, beverages, etc.); 

- The Personal Care activity, still highly promising, recorded low figures for the half year, in light of 

a very low base. 

 

 

  

H1 2011 vs H1 2010                                                         

At current rate 

Sa
le

s 
in

 M
€
 

61.30%

31.50%

0.90%

6.20%

Food & Beverage Nutrition & health Personal Care Miscellaneous
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Very good performance in the three geographical regions 
 

Europe/Africa Americas Asia/Pacific Total 

71.0 43.7 13.2 127.9 

+18.0% +7.9% +15.5% +14.1% 

 

 

The three geographical regions have performed very well thanks to the dynamism of the sales 

network.  

During the first half of 2011, Naturex opened three sales offices in Korea, Mexico and Canada, and 

now has 19 sales locations around the world. 

- The mature markets in Europe and in North 

America are still the main engines for growth 

and have recorded very good growth; 

- The Asia/Pacific region developed in a 

positive manner over the half-year thanks to 

the sharp growth in the activity in Asia, 

despite the inclement weather in Australia 

which significantly affected sales in Q1 in the 

Pacific;  

- The emerging markets of Eastern Europe, 

Asia and Latin America are attractive relays 

where the Group intends to continue its 

development. 

 

  

H1 2011 vs H1 2010                                                         

At current rate 

Sa
le

s 
in

 M
€
 

55.60%

34.10%
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II.2 Analysis of consolidated results 

Income statement 

 

In €M 
IFRS 

H1 2011 H1 2010 Change 
% 

Fiscal  
2010 

Revenue 127.9 112.1 +14.1% 226.3 

Gross margin 75.4 65.2 +15.7% 132.1 

% gross margin 59.0% 58.2%  58.4% 

Operating income 16.0 14.3 +11.7% 27.3 

% operating margin 12.5% 12.7%  12.1% 

Cost of net financial debt (2.8) (2.8)  (5.6) 

Other financial income and expenses 0.9 (0.3)  (0.7) 

Income before tax 14.1 11.2 +26.3% 21.1 

Tax expense (4.4) (3.6) +22.8% (6.2) 

Net income, Group share 9.7 7.6 +28.0% 14.8 

% net profitability 7.6% 6.8%  6.5% 

 

The strong dynamic in sales recorded over the year 2010 continued over the six three months of 

fiscal year 2011, under the combined effects of an enhanced product range and sales synergies. 

Consolidated revenue for H1 2011 stands at € 127.9 million, up 14.1% compared to H1 2010. On a 

comparable basis, activity in H1 2011 generated organic growth of +13.1%, in line perfectly with the 

annual target of double-digit growth in sales that was announced in March 2011. 

The sharp growth in the activity over the H1 2011 has generated a highly favourable leverage effect 

on the Group's results, continuing the solid performance of fiscal 2010. 

The consolidated gross margin is in line with the revenue and stands at € 75.4 million, up 15.7% 

compared to the first half of fiscal 2010.  

The gross margin rate represents 59.0% of the revenue compared to 58.2% in H1 2010. This 

improvement (+0.8 point) is the result of the measures taken when integrating the Ingredients 

Division of Natraceutical in order to unify the Supply Chain and rationalise the purchasing of raw 

materials on the one hand, and the change in the product mix to customised technical solutions, on 

the other hand. In fiscal 2010, the gross margin rate represented 58.4% of revenue. 

Operating income, up 11.7%, stands at € 16.0 million compared to € 14.3 million in H1 2010. 

The strong organic growth in H1 2011 generated a 23.1% increase in external expenses, in particular 

in travel costs, fees, marketing expenses linked to advertising costs and exhibitions at professional 



Half-year financial report 
Fiscal Year 2011 (1 January to 30 June 2011)

 

14 Half-Year Financial Report 2011 | NATUREX S.A 

 

 

trade shows, business travel expenses, as well as operating and maintenance costs for laboratories 

and production sites. 

Note that the majority of the development costs do not satisfy the criteria for fixed assets stipulated 

in IAS 38, notably as regards their future economic benefit; these costs are therefore recorded as 

expense for € 1.4 million for H1 2011. 

Payroll expenses are up 9.4% compared to H1 2010 in light of the reinforcing of the sales structure in 

the world but were however well controlled; this expense represents 18.8% of the revenue 

compared to 19.6% over H1 2010. 

The actions initiated by the Group since 2010, aimed at rationalising expenses and optimising 

operating profitability, have fully borne their fruit over the period under the combined effect of 

centralised management for the main support functions (purchasing/supply chain, trade, marketing, 

IT, scientific department…) and gains in productivity made by the various production sites.  

As such, the operating margin is in line perfectly with the annual targets announced (12-13% of 

annual revenue 2011) and represents 12.5% of the revenue for H1 2011 compared to 12.7% in H1 

2010. 

EBITDA1 for H1 2011 stands at € 20.3 million compared to € 19.6 million in H1 2010. 

The cost of net financial debt stands at € 2.8 million, identical to H1 2010, it primarily incorporates 

the interest and expenses stemming from the financing lines. 

Other financial income and expenses stand at € 0.9 million and primarily concern foreign exchange 

gains recorded over the period. In H1 2010, this expense represented € -0.3 million in light of the 

foreign exchange losses that were higher than foreign exchange gains. 

Net income, Group share is up 28.0%, at € 9.7 million, after taking € 4.4 million in tax expense into 

account; in the first half of 2010, it was € 7.6 million, after tax expense of € 3.6 million. 

Net earnings per share for H1 2011 is 1.5186 euros compared to 1.1932 euros in H1 2010. 

  

                                                           
1
 EBITDA: Earnings Before Tax Depreciation and Amortization 
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II.3 Analysis of assets, cash flow and shareholders' equity 

Balance Sheet 

The balance sheet total at 30 June 2011 stands at € 364.3 million compared to € 358.1 million at 31 
December 2010. 

ASSETS 

In €M - IFRS 30/06/2011 31/12/2010 

Non-current assets 187.3 189.4 

Goodwill 81.5 83.9 

Other intangible fixed assets 7.7 6.3 

Tangible fixed assets 91.8 92.3 

Financial assets 0.8 0.7 

Non-current derivative instruments 0.1 0.5 

Deferred tax assets 5.3 5.7 

Current assets 176.9 168.7 

Inventories 104.6 98.2 

Current derivative instruments 0.09 0.3 

Tax receivables 0.8 3.1 

Trade and other receivables 59.3 49.6 

Cash and cash equivalents 12.2 17.5 

Non-current assets held for sale - - 

TOTAL ASSETS 364.3 358.1 

 

 Non-current assets 

Non-current assets stand at € 187.3 million at 30 June 2011 compared to € 189.5 million at 31 

December 2010 and primarily include: 

- Goodwill, which stands at € 81.5 million compared to € 83.9 million at 31 December 2010.  

Goodwill is not amortised but undergoes annual impairment tests and are booked at their cost, 

with a deduction for cumulative depreciation. 

In the absence of evidence of a loss in the value, no additional impairment test was carried out in 

H1 2011. 

The change over the period results solely from different conversion rates applied at 30 June 2011 

and 31 December 2010. 

 

 

Goodwill at 30 June 2011 can be broken down as follows: 
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 € 36.0 million for the Americas after taking € 2.5 million in negative translation differences 

into account, in light of the €/$ exchange rate effect;  

 € 43.1 million for Europe / Africa; 

 € 2.5 million for Asia. 

- Other net intangible fixed assets stand at € 7.7 million at 30 June 2011 compared to € 6.3 million 

at 31 December 2010. 

Other gross intangible fixed assets stand at € 11.4 million at 30 June 2011 compared to € 9.2 

million at 31 December 2010, and primarily take the following into account: 

 purchase of customer portfolios from the distributor agents, in particular those of the 

Ingredients Division of Natraceutical, for a purchase price of € 0.5 million; 

 software and brands for € 0.7 million; 

 capitalised development costs for € 1.0 million corresponding to Research & Development 

investments (Italian project - ASMF and Spanish - SENIFOOD described in note 19 of the 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements). 

- Net tangible fixed assets stand at € 91.8 million compared to € 92.3 million at 31 December 2010. 

The increase of € 3.8 million in the gross value of these fixed assets primarily corresponds to 

investments made on the Group's industrial sites for a purchase price of € 5.1 million, and 

negative translation differences of € 1.1 million. 

- Net financial assets, which stand at € 0.8 million compared to € 0.7 million at 31 December 2010 

and primarily correspond to equity securities as well as deposits and guarantees. 

- Non-current derivative instruments for € 0.1 million compared to € 0.5 million at 31 December 

2010. 

- € 5.3 million in deferred tax assets compared to € 5.7 million at 31 December 2010.  

 Current assets 

Current assets represent € 176.9 million compared to € 1368.7 million at 31 December 2010 and 

include: 

- Net inventories for € 104.6 million compared to € 98.2 million at 31 December 2010. 

The € 5.0 million increase in gross inventories corresponds to a € 7.0 million change in 

inventories in line with the growth in the activity, and € 2.0 million in negative translation 

differences linked to currency variations. 

The provision on inventories at 30 June 2011 stands at € 1.4 million. 

- Current derivative instruments for € 0.09 million compared to € 0.3 million at 31 December 2010. 

- Tax receivables for € 0.8 million compared to € 3.1 million at 31 December 2010. 

- Net trade receivables increased from € 9.7 million to € 59.3 million compared to € 49.6 million at 

31 December 2010. 

The total provision for trade receivables at 30 June 2011 stands at € 1.9 million of which € 1.5 

million in provisions on trade receivables and € 0.3 million in depreciation for tax receivables. 
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- The Cash and cash equivalents item stands at € 12.2 million compared to € 17.5 million at 31 

December 2010. 

LIABILITIES 

In €M - IFRS 30/06/2011 31/12/2010 

Shareholders' equity 175.9 168.8 

Non-current liabilities 116.7 124.3 

Long-term financial debt 100.1 108.4 

Non-current derivative instruments 2.0 2.5 

Employee benefits 2.6 2.2 

Deferred tax liabilities 12.0 11.2 

Current liabilities 71.7 65.0 

Current financial debt 12.6 9.9 

Current derivative instruments 0.7 0.7 

Current provisions - 0.6 

Tax due 2.3 1.3 

Trade and other payables 54.7 51.2 

Bank loans 1.5 1.3 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 364.3 358.1 

 
 Shareholders' equity 

Taking into account in particular the net income for the period for € 9.7 million, the distribution of € 

0.6 million in dividends for the period ended 31 December 2010 paid on 30 September 2011 with an 

option of payment in cash or in shares, and the changes in the other components of the overall result 

(including the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedges net of tax and 

the translation differences), shareholders' equity at 30 June 2011 stands at € 175.9 million compared 

to € 168.8 million at 31 December 2010. 

 Non-current liabilities 

- The employee benefits item stands at € 2.6 million and at 30 June 2011 exclusively concerns 

provisions for employee benefits, compared to € 2.2 million at 31 December 2010. 

- Gross financial debt stands at € 114.2 million at 30 June 2011 compared to € 119.6 million at 31 

December 2010. 

Recall that at 30 December 2009, The Group set up a new structured loan. The debt, which was 

initially at a variable rate, was swapped for a portion at a fixed rate in 2010. 

As such, at 30 June 2011, these borrowings are at a fixed rate of 51.9% (€ 59.3 million) and at a 

variable rate of 48.1% (€ 54.9 million). 

The corresponding derivative instruments were taken out starting on 31 March 2010 and details 

are provided in Note 5.5 of the consolidated financial statements and notes. 
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Gross financial debt can be broken down as follows: 

 loans set up within the framework of the structured credit, for € 112.0 million at 30 June 

2011  compared to € 117.1 million at 31 December 2010. This decrease can be explained by 

the repayment of € 8.2 million, the subscribing of new lines for € 6.9 million and a negative 

impact of € 3.9 million linked to currency variations. 

 borrowings linked to lease finance contracts for € 0.2 million compared to € 0.3 million at 31 

December 2010; 

 debt linked to holdings for € 0.5 million, compared to € 0.9 million at 31 December 2010; 

 bank loans for € 1.5 million compared to € 1.3 million at 31 December 2010. 

 

The breakdown of all of the gross financial debt at 30 June 2011 by due date is as follows: 

- Within one year at 12.3%, or € 14.1 million; 

- Between 2 and 5 years at 62.7%, or € 71.6 million; 

- Over 5 years at 25.0%, or € 28.5 million; 

 

A portion of the debt that was initially denominated in dollars is hedged for € 6.6 million over the 

period. The change in fair value for this hedging instrument generated a financial loss of € 0.6 million.  

Total long-term financial debt (current financial debt + non-current financial debt + net bank loans 

for cash) stand at € 102.1 million, identical to 31 December 2010.  

The net debt ratio (Net financial debt/Shareholders' equity) represents, at 30 June 2011, 58.0% of 

consolidated shareholders' equity compared to 60.5% at 31 December 2010. 
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The breakdown of net financial debt in foreign currency at 30 June 2011 is as follows: 

 

- Deferred tax liabilities stand at € 12.0 million compared to € 11.2 million at 31 December 2010. 

- Non-current derivative liability instruments stand at € 2.0 million compared to 2.5 million at 31 

December 2010. 

 

 Current liabilities 

Total current liabilities at 30 June 2011 stand at € 71.7 million compared to € 65.0 million at 31 

December 2010. 

In addition to the current portion of financial debt for an amount of € 12.5 million described 

hereinabove compared to € 9.9 million at 31 December 2010, it includes: 

- Current derivative instruments for € 0.7 million, idem as H1 2010; 

- Tax due for € 2.3 million compared to € 1.3 million at 31 December 2010; 

- The trade and other payables item stands at € 54.7 million compared to € 51.2 million at 31 

December 2010. This € 3.5 million increase includes € 0.6 million linked exclusively to the impact 

of currency variations; 

- Bank loans for € 1.5 million compared to € 1.3 million at 31 December 2010. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

45.5%

37.3%

17.2% Euro

Dollar

Swiss Franc
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Consolidated cash flow 

 

In €M - IFRS 30/06/2011 30/06/2010 

Cash flow linked to operating activity 
Before change in WCR 20.9 19.3 

Taxes paid (3.0) (1.9) 

Change in WCR (11.6) (20.4) 

Net cash flow linked to operating activity 6.3 (3.0) 

Net cash flow linked to investments (7.4) (7.5) 

Net cash flow linked to financing (3.3) 0.9 

Change in cash (4.4) (9.6) 

Closing cash position 10.6 9.7 

Opening cash position 16.2 10.4 

Effect on changes in exchange rates on cash held 1.1 (8.9) 

 
 

Operating activity generates € 6.3 million in net positive cash flow including € 11.6 million in a 

negative change in the working capital requirement. 

Net cash flow linked to investments represents a requirement of € 7.4 millions and in particular takes 

the following into account: 

- € 2.2 million gross of intangible investments; 

- € 5.1 million gross of tangible investments; 

- € 0.4 million in financial investments. 

Net cash flow linked to investments represents a requirement of € 3.3 million and in particular takes 

the following into account:  

- € 7.0 million in collections linked to new loans; 

- € 7.7 million in loan repayments, net of derivative instruments; 

- € 0.4 million in net change of other financial liabilities; 

- € 2.2 millions in financial interest paid. 

The changes in exchange rates had a negative effect of € 1.1 million on cash flow compared to a 

negative impact of € 8.9 million at 30 June 2010. 

All of these flows explain the negative cash change for € 4.4 million at 30 June 2011, for a cash flow 

on the asset side of the balance sheet of € 12.2 million and bank loans on the liabilities side of the 

balance sheet for € 1.5 million. 
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II.4 Financing policy 

In order to finance its development, NATUREX signed a structured credit agreement on 30 December 

2009, as a replacement of a previous structured credit dating from December 2008. 

The total amount of structured credit stands at € 140 million, and can be broken down as follows: 

- € 100 million in credit lines with amortisation which were primarily used to refinance the 

previous loans as well as for financing the acquisition of the Ingredients Division of Natraceutical; 

- A € 20 million tranche for short-term authorisations. At 30 June 2011, these were drawn on for 

an amount of € 20 million, compared to $ 16.3 million at 31 December 2010; 

- A € 20 million tranche for investment authorisations (CAPEX). At 30 June 2011, these were drawn 

on for an amount of € 14.2 million, compared to € 11.0 million at 31 December 2010. 

- During H1 2011, a second tranche for € 15.0 million was authorised for short-term use. This 

tranche was not used at 30 June 2011. 

 

The loan agreement which links the group to its lenders contains a clause regarding compliance with 

two bank ratios which will be assessed every six months. 

These ratios are gearing which is defined by the ratio of net financial debt to total equity and (ii) 

financial leverage which is defined by the ratio of net financial debt to EBITDA. 

In the event that the group was unable to uphold these contractual ratios and the majority of lenders 

were in agreement, the lenders may request the repayment of the corresponding loan. 

These ratios were complied with at 30 June 2011. 

III. Main related party transactions 

Details on the transactions between related parties are provided in Note 24 of the Notes to the 

consolidated half-year financial statements. 

 

Information on compensation for directors 

Details on the information concerning the total gross compensation of company directors and non-

directors pertaining to fiscal years 2010 and 2009, is provided in the registration document filed with 

the French Securities Regulator (AMF) on 28 April 2011 under number D.11-0389. 

 

In H1 2011, the total gross compensation of company directors and non-directors, numbering three2, 

stands at € 980 thousand compared to € 834 thousand in H1 2010.  

 

                                                           
2
 Jacques Dikansky (President and CEO of NATUREX S.A. and NATUREX Inc ), Thierry Lambert (Vice-President 

and CFO of NATUREX S.A. and Vice-President of NATUREX Inc), Stéphane Ducroux (Director of NATUREX S.A. 
and Vice-President of NATUREX Inc) 



Half-year financial report 
Fiscal Year 2011 (1 January to 30 June 2011)

 

22 Half-Year Financial Report 2011 | NATUREX S.A 

 

 

These amounts include total gross compensation, including benefits in kind and stock options 

allocated over the year. 

This compensation is paid by NATUREX Inc (United States) for € 587 thousand and by NATUREX S.A. 

(France) for € 394 thousand. 

Company directors and non-directors do not benefit from any long-term benefits. 

 

Transactions with SGD 

A payment of € 3 thousand was made over the period by NATUREX S.A. to SGD, as compensation for 

the current account which has a balance of € 0.5 million at the closing of the half year. 

At 30 June 2011, SGD, held at 72.08% by the Dikansky family, who holds 15.98% of the capital and 

20.15% of the voting rights of NATUREX S.A. 

Note that SGD, on the date this document was filed, holds 12.10% of the capital and 15.18% of the 

voting rights of NATUREX S.A. 

IV. Corporate governance 

Reminder of the reference Code of governance 

In application of the Law of 3 July 2008 and in terms of Article L.225-37 of the French Commercial 
Code, NATUREX S.A. refers to the principles of corporate governance for small and midcaps, 
published in December 2009 by the MiddleNext association, and available on the internet site 
www.middlenext.com. 

 
Chairing of the Board of Directors and General Management 

In accordance with the obligations of the Law on New Economic Regulations (NRE), the Board of 
Directors has opted for an accumulation of the functions of the Chair of the Board of Directors and of 
the General Manager as well as the nomination of one or several individuals in charge of assisting the 
general manager with the title of vice-president. 

As such, Jacques Dikansky fulfils the function of General Manager as well as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, and Thierry Lambert fulfils the function of Vice-President in addition to his function as the 
Company's Chief Financial Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.middlenext.com/
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Composition of the Board of Directors 

The number of members of the Board of Directors is statutorily limited to at least three and no more 
than eighteen, except for a temporary derogation provided for in the event of a merger. 

At 30 June 2011, the Company was governed by a Board of Directors with five members, including an 
independent director with regards to the criteria of the MiddleNext Code. 

First name – Last name Functions Date of appointment/renewal Date mandate expires 

Jacques Dikansky 
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors 
and General Manager 

14 June 2006 

GM on the financial 
statements for the 
period ending 31 
December 2011 

Thierry Lambert Vice-President and CFO 14 June 2006 

GM on the financial 
statements for the 
period ending 31 
December 2011 

Stéphane Ducroux Director 30 June 2008 

GM on the financial 
statements for the 
period ending 31 
December 2013 

Edmond de Rothschild 
Investment Partners SAS, 
represented by Pierre 
Michel Passy 

Director 
22 December 2010  

(co-optation) 

GM on the financial 
statements for the 
period ending 31 
December 2014 

Jacqueline Dikansky Director 27 June 2011 

GM on the financial 
statements for the 
period ending 31 
December 2016 

 

- The General Shareholders' Meeting of 27 June 2011 ratified the nomination as director of 
Edmond De Rothschild Investment Partners, carried out on a temporary basis by the Board of 
directors at its meeting on 22 December 2010, replacing Mr. Francisco, Javier ADSERA, who 
resigned. Consequently, Edmond De Rothschild Investment Partners shall exercise said functions 
for the remaining duration of the term of its predecessor, until the end of the Annual General 
Meeting which will be called to approve the financial statements for the period ending 31 
December 2014. Pierre Michel Passy was designated as the permanent representative of 
Edmond de Rothschild Investment Partners SAS. 
 

- The General Shareholders' Meeting of 27 June 2011 designated Jacqueline DIKANSKY as a 
director of the Company for a period of six years which shall come to an end at the close of the 
Annual General Meeting which will be called to approve the financial statements for the period 
ending 31 December 2016. 

 

The Board of Directors of the Company, meeting on 24 August 2011, acknowledged the resigning of 
Edmond De Rothschild Investment Partners, from the position of director that it held within 
NATUREX S.A. through its permanent representative, Pierre-Michel Passy.  
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Distribution by gender of the Board of Directors 

The Law 2011-103 of 27 January 2011 pertaining to the balanced representation between men and 
women on the board of directors and supervisory board and in terms of professional equality, was 
published in the Journal Officiel on 28 January 2011 and initiated the following principles in 
companies of which the shares are admitted to trading in a regulated market: 
 
- The proportion of the members of each sex cannot be less than 40% on the board of directors or 

supervisory board;  
- When one of the two sexes is not represented in the Board of Directors on the date the law is 

published, at least one representative of this sex must be appointed at the next General 
Shareholders' Meeting called to rule on the nomination of directors; 

- When the composition of the board is no longer compliant (40%), the latter proceeds with 
temporary nominations in order to correct this within a period of six months starting from the 
day when the vacancy occurs. 

 
The Law provides that on 1 January 2014, the board of directors and the supervisory board of listed 
companies must include at least 20% of men or women, and that on 1 January 2017, the threshold of 
40% must be reached. 
The appreciation for this compliance will be done at the first general meeting following this deadline. 
 
As the Board of Directors of the Company is composed of four men and one woman at 30 June 2011, 
the Company is already in compliance with the transitory system set up by law. 
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V. Information concerning the capital 

V.1 Share capital 

At 30 June 2011, the share capital, fully paid up, stands at 9,616,396 euros for 6,410,931 shares with 
a par value of 1.50 euros each. 
 
The shares are broken down as follows: 

- 5 004 935 ordinary shares; 
- 1,405,996 preferred shares, devoid of voting rights. 

 
The preferred shares, without voting rights, cannot represent more than half of the share capital. 
On the date this document was filed, the share capital has not changed but the shares are distributed 
in the following manner, in light of the various conversions that took place between 30 June 2011 
and the date this document was filed: 

- 5,026,359 ordinary shares (ISIN FR0000054694); 
- 1,384,572 preferred shares (ISIN FR0010833251). 
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 Changes in capital 
Fiscal Type of operation Number of 

securities 
issued 

Capital increase Issue premium 
(Total / per share) 

Par value Number of 
shares 

Amount of capital 

2005 Capital Increase 

Board meeting of 06/01/2005 
414,865 € 622,297.50 € 10,662,030.50 

€ 25.70 /share 
€ 1.50 2,579,383 € 3,869,074.50 

2005 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 06/01/05 

2,743 € 4,114.50 € 93,262 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,582,126 € 3,873,189 

2005 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 

79,000 € 118,500.00 € 784,470 
€ 9.93 / share 

€ 1.50 2,661,126 € 3,991,689 

2006 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 13/03/06 

362 € 543.00 € 12,308 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,661,488 € 3,992,232 

2006 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 12/09/06 

30,747 € 45,120.50 € 1,045,398 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,692,235 € 4,038,352.50 

2006 Capital increase 266,148 € 399,222.00 € 13,227,555.60 
€ 49.70 / share 

€ 1.50 2,958,383 € 4,437,574.50 

2006 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 30/11/06 

255 € 382.50 € 8,670 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,958,638 € 4,437,957 

2006 Capital increase following 
the taking up of 
subscription options 

364 € 546.00 € 4,317.04 
€ 11.86 / share 

€ 1.50 2,959,002 € 4,438,503 

2006 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 26/12/06 

229 € 343.50 € 7,786 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,959,231 € 4,438,846.50 

2006 Capital increase following 
the taking up of 
subscription options 

8,041 € 12,061.50 € 95,366.26 
€ 11.86 / share 

€ 1.50 2,967,262 € 4,450,908 

2007 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 02/07/07 

1,453 € 2,179.50 € 49,402 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,968,725 € 4,453,087.50 

2007 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 31/12/07 

18,124 € 27,186.00 € 616,216 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,986,849 € 4,480,273.50 

2007 Capital increase following 
the taking up of 
subscription options 
Board meeting of 31/12/07 

660 € 990.00 € 4,233.90 
€ 12.83 / share 
€ 4,197.60 
€ 12.83 / share 

€ 1.50 2,987,509 € 4,481,263.50 

2008 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 

7,290 € 10,935.00 € 236,925 
€ 34 / share 

€ 1.50 2,994,799 € 4,492,198.50 

2008 Capital increase following 
the taking up of 
subscription options 

18,590 € 27,885.00 € 208,579.80 
€ 12.72 / share 

€ 1.50 3,013,389 € 4,520,083.50 

2008 Capital increase following 
the taking up of 
subscription options 

1,590 € 2,385.00 € 18,014,70 
€ 12.83 / share 

€ 1.50 3,014,979 € 4,522,765.50 

2009 Capital increase following 
the taking up of 
subscription options 

198 € 297.00 € 2,221,56 
€ 12.72 / share 

€ 1.50 3,015,177 € 4,522,765.50 

2009 Capital increase through 
share with warrants issue 
Board meeting of 06/03/09 

866,863 € 1,300,294.50 € 15,779,318,71 
€ 20 / share 

€ 1.50 3,882,040 € 5,823,060.00 

2009 Capital increase through 
the issue of ordinary 
shares 
EOGM of 30/12/09 

961,557 € 1,442,335.50 € 29,261,703 
€ 32 / share 

€ 1.50 4,843,597 € 7,265,395.50 

2009 Capital increase through 
the issue of preferential 
shares 
EOGM of 30/12/09 

1,520,403 € 2,280,604.50 € 46,268,273 
€ 32 / share 

€ 1.50 6,364,000 € 9,546,000.00 

2010 Capital increase following 
the taking up of 
subscription options 
Board meeting of 23/08/10 

23,192 € 34,788.00 € 603,920 
€ 27.54 / share 

€ 1.50 6,387,192 € 9,580,788.00 

2010 Capital increase by 
payment of the dividend in 
shares  
EOGM of 30/06/10 

23,739 € 35,608.50 € 578,648 
€ 26.85 / share 

€ 1.50 6,410,931 € 9,616,396.50 
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V.2 Authorised unissued capital 

The Joint Shareholders' Meeting of 27 June 2011 granted new powers and delegations of powers o 
the Company's Board of Directors. 

These powers and delegations cancel the effect and are substituted for those detailed in the 
registration document D.11-0389 filed with the French Securities Regulator (AMF) on 28 April 2011. 

The table hereinafter shows the delegated powers and delegations as of 27 June 2011, granted by 
the Joint General Meeting to the Board of Directors pertaining to capital increases. 
 

 Current authorisations and delegated powers as of 27 June 2011, granted by the Joint General 
Meeting to the Board of Directors pertaining to capital increases 

Nature of the power granted Date of EGM Amount authorised Validity of the power Uses made of the 
power granted 

Issuing of shares and/or securities 
providing access to the Company's 
capital 

27 June 2011 Cf detail hereinafter according to the 
delegations granted 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 

- Authorisation to increase the 
capital with pre-emptive 
subscription rights 

27 June 2011 

 

 

 

4 000 000 € 

+ nominal amount of the additional 
shares to be issued, where applicable 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 

- Authorisation to increase the 
capital with revocation of pre-
emptive subscription rights on a 
public share offer 

27 June 2011 € 4,000,000 (ceiling excluded from the 
nominal ceiling of the delegation with 
revocation of pre-emptive subscription 
rights, through private investment) 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 

- Authorisation to increase the 
capital with no pre-emptive 
subscription rights, via private 
investment governed by Article 
L.411-2, II of the French Monetary 
and Financial Code 

27 June 2011 € 4,000,000 limited to 20% of the share 
capital per year (amount excluded from 
the nominal ceiling of the delegation 
with revocation of pre-emptive 
subscription rights, through a public 
share offer) 

 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 

- Authorization to increase the 
capital in order to remunerate 
contributions in kind of securities 

27 June 2011 Limited to 10% of the share capital 
(ceiling independent of any other 
ceiling provided for in terms of powers 
for increasing the capital) 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 

- Powers granted to increase the 
share capital through the 
incorporation of reserves, profits 
or premiums 

27 June 2011 € 40,000,000 (ceiling independent of 
ceilings provided for in terms of other 
powers) 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 

- Authorisation to increase the 
number of securities to be issued 
in the event of excess demand 

27 June 2011 In accordance with the provisions of 

Article L 225-135-1 of the French 
Commercial Code and within the 
ceilings set by the General Meeting, 
when the Board of Directors is availed 
with excessive demand 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 

Authorisation to increase the share 
capital through the issue of shares 
reserved for members of a company 
savings plan 

27 June 2011 Limited to 3% of the share capital on 
the day of the decision of the Board of 
Directors 

26 months 

until 27 August 2013 
None 
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Nature of the power granted Date of EGM Amount authorised Validity of the power Uses made of the 
power granted 

Powers granted for the purposes of 
cancelling the shares purchased by the 
Company within the framework of the 
provision of Article L.225-209 of the 
French Commercial Code 

27 June 2011 Limited to 10% of the share capital, on 
one or more occasions, in a period of 
24 months 

24 months 

until 27 June 2013 
None 

Powers for the allocation of stock 
subscription and/or purchase options 
of the Company for employees and/or 
company officers 

27 June 2011 Limited to 30% of the share capital 
(combined ceiling with the 
authorisation for the free allocation of 
Company shares) 

38 months 

until 27 August 2014 
None 

Powers granted for the free allocation 
of existing shares or new shares to 
employees and/or company officers 

27 June 2011 Limited to 3% of the share capital 
(combined ceiling with the 
authorisation for the allocation of stock 
subscription and/or purchase options) 

38 months 

until 27 August 2014 
None 

 

V.3 Breakdown of capital and voting rights 

Changes in shareholding 

The table hereinbelow shows the breakdown of the capital and voting rights of NATUREX S.A. at 30 June 2011 and how it 
has changed compared to 31 December 2010 and 30 June 2010: 

 30 June 2011 31 December 2010 30 June 2010 

 Number of 
shares 

% 
capital 

% of 
Voting 
rights 

Number of 
shares 

% 
capital 

% of 
Voting 
rights 

Number of 
shares 

% 
capital 

% of 
Voting 
rights 

          

 NATUREX S.A. (1) 7 934 0,12% - 12 632 0,20% - 7 000 0,11% - 

SGD (2) 1,024,167 15.98% 20.15% 1,024,167 15.98% 20.34% 969,557 15.18% 19.25% 

Jacques Dikansky 15,963 0.25% 0.31% 15,963 0.25% 0.32% 35,335 0.55% 1.11% 

NATRA Group 2,021,424 31.53% 12.11% 2,416,494 37.69% 19.18% 2,406,631 37.68% 19.09% 

Shares held jointly (3) 3,061,554 47.76% 32.57% 3,456,624 53.92% 39.84% 3,411,523 53.41% 39.45% 

Thierry Lambert 852 0.01% 0.02% 1,011 0.02% 0.02% 3,489 0.05% 0.09% 

Stéphane Ducroux 4,026 0.06% 0.13% 4,026 0.06% 0.13% 5,011 0.08% 0.15% 

Executive 
shareholders 

4,878 0.07% 0.15% 5,037 0.08% 0.15% 8,500 0.13% 0.24% 

Odyssée Venture 352,781 5.50% 6.94% 352,781 5.50% 7.00% 206,301 3.23% 4.11% 

CIC Banque de Vizille 205,882 3.21% 5.60% 205,365 3.20% 5.65% 205,042 3.21% 5.84% 

La Financière Tiepolo 62,756 0.98% 1.23% - - - - - - 

Public 2,715,146 42.35% 53.51% 2,378,492 37.10% 47.35% 2,548,826 39.91% 50.45% 

Free float 3,336,565 52.04% 67.28% 2,936,638 45.80% 60.01% 2,960,169 46.35% 60.40% 
          

Total shareholding 6,410,931 100% 100% 6,410,931 100% 100% 6,387,192 100% 100% 

(1) NATUREX S.A. holds its own shares within the framework of the liquidity contract concluded with Natixis 

(2) The capital of SGD, on the date this document was filed was held for 72.08% by the Dikansky family, for 25.78% by FINASUCRE, and the 

balance of 2.14% is held by other investors 

(3) There are shares that are held jointly by Jacques Dikansky, SGD and Groupe NATRA within the framework of the shareholders' agreement 
signed on 30 December 2009 

Source: Société Générale Securities Service – 30 June 2011 
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Operations of directors and of the persons mentioned in Article L.621-18-2 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code on the securities of the Company 

In application of Articles L.621-18-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code and of Article 222-15-
3 of the General Regulations of the AMF amended by decree of 9 March 2006 published in the 
Journal Officiel on 21 March 2006, the following operations were carried out on the Company's 
securities, on the date this document was filed: 

 

Declarant Financial 
Instrument 

Type of operation Date of the 
operation 

Location of the 
operation 

Unit price Amount of the 
operation 

SGD       

 Shares Acquisition 05 July 2011 Off-market € 57.00 € 81,168.00 

 Shares Transfer 29 July 2011 Off-market € 56.117 € 14,029,250.00 

Thierry Lambert      

 Shares Transfer 06 June 2011 NYSE Euronext Paris € 57.82 € 9,193.38 

 
 

Joint participation in NATUREX S.A. 

Reminder of the shareholders' agreement signed on 31 December 2009 

On 4 January 2010, the French Securities Regulator (AMF) was informed of the concluding of a 
shareholders' agreement between the group SGD and Groupe NATRA; this agreement was concluded 
within the framework of Group NATRA's contribution of assets comprising the Ingredients Division of 
its subsidiary Natraceutical S.A., to NATUREX. 
 
This agreement forms joint action and provides for a certain number of commitments that are 
detailed in the AMF notice 210C0009 published on the AMF website on 6 January 2010. 
 

Joint action 

The shareholders' agreement signed between Jacques Dikansky, SGD and Groupe NATRA on 31 
December 2009 forms a joint action. 
 
Joint participation in the capital of NATUREX S.A. 

On the date this document was filed, the "SGD-J.DIKANSKY-NATRACEUTICAL" joint action represents 
43.48% of the capital (2,787,410) and 27.46% of the voting rights (1,402,838 votes) of NATUREX. 
Jacques Dikansky, directly and indirectly through the intermediary of the SGD partnership limited by 
shares, holds 12.35% of the capital and 15.49% of the voting rights of NATUREX and the 
NATRACEUTICAL group holds 31.13% of the capital and 11.96% of the voting rights of NATUREX. 
This new distribution of the joint action gave rise to declarations of crossings over of thresholds 
described hereinafter. 
 
The details for the transactions carried out on NATUREX securities by the concert is as follows: 
 In H1 2011, NATRACEUTICAL transferred 395,070 NATUREX securities: 

- Between 28 February and 31 March 2011, NATRACEUTICAL sold 101,795 NATUREX shares, 
representing 1.59% of the Company's capital; 
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- On 4 and 6 May 2011, NATRACEUTICAL and its subsidiaries Natra Cacao and Cocoatech 
transferred 248,275 NATUREX securities, terminating the promise to sell3 with Bio Group 
Brazil that had been made by NATRACEUTICAL in October 2010 and extended until July 2011; 

- On 12 May, NATRACEUTICAL transferred 45,000 NATUREX securities. 
 After the closing of H1 2011, the following movements were carried out on the NATUREX 

security by the concert: 
- Between 5 and 7 July 2011, NATRACEUTICAL transferred 21,424 NATUREX securities; 
- On 5 July 2011, SGD acquired 1,424 NATUREX securities transferred by NATRACEUTICAL; 
- On 29 July 2011, SGD transferred 250,000 NATUREX securities to EDRIP (Edmond de 

Rothschild Investment Partners) within the framework of the transaction described 
hereinbelow. 

 

Information concerning the breakdown of the capital of SGD 

 FINASUCRE enters into the capital of SGD, reference shareholder of NATUREX 

On 29 July 2011, SGD, reference shareholder of NATUREX S.A., announces the entry into its capital of 
FINASUCRE (Société Financière des Sucres). 
Within the framework of an initial capital increase, FINASUCRE has acquired 25.8% of the capital and 
voting rights of SGD. 
This transaction was authorised by the administrative bodies of SGD and a memorandum of 
understanding was signed on 29 July 2011. 
This was preceded by: 
- the exiting of EDRIP (Edmond de Rothschild Investment Partners) from the capital of SGD by 

purchasing its SGD shares in exchange in particular for 250,000 NATUREX shares representing 
3.90% of the capital and 4.89% of the voting rights of NATUREX. Up until then, EDRIP had held 
30.2% of the capital of SGD since March 2009 through the Winch Capital and Winch Private 
Capital funds. 
EDRIP will act alone and with full independence in the management of its investment in 
NATUREX.  

- the transformation of SGD into a partnership limited by shares, of which Jacques Dikansky is the 
manager and the general partner, through the SARL JDK. 

Consequently, the shareholding structure of SGD after the initial acquisition by FINASUCRE is as 
follows: 

 

Shareholders Number of shares Breakdown of capital and voting 

rights 

 
Dikansky family 485,816 72.08% 

FINASUCRE 173,780 25.78% 

Other 14,400 2.14% 

Total 673,996 

 

100.00% 

  

In the upcoming months, FINASUCRE will increase its holdings in ordinary shares and in preferred 
shares without voting rights up to 58.15% of the capital and 39.39% of the voting rights of SGD SCA, 
with Jacques Dikansky alone retaining control of SGD. 

 
FINASUCRE is a financial investor and as such does not intend to take part in the management of 
SGD. Jacques Dikansky, as the legal representative of the manager-general partner of SGD will alone 
exercise the voting rights of NATUREX that are attached to shares held by SGD SCA. 

                                                           
3Cf AMF Decision and Information 210C1201 of 24 November 2010 
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The shareholders' agreement signed on 30 December 2009 between the SGD group and the 
NATRACEUTICAL group remains as is and the predominance of Jacques Dikansky4, directly and 
indirectly through the intermediary of SGD SCA, within the concert between the SGD group and the 
NATRACEUTICAL group is not affected.  

 
Threshold crossings 

Statutory thresholds 

In its articles of association, the Company has not set any obligation to declare the crossing of a 
threshold pertaining to the capital or voting rights, over or under, other than the legal thresholds. 
 

Legal thresholds 

Any individual or entity acting alone or jointly who would come to hold the number of shares or 
voting rights exceeding the thresholds provided by current regulations (Article L.233-7 of the French 
Commercial Code) must comply with the obligations of informing provided by the latter. The same 
information is due when the participation in the capital or in voting rights becomes less than the 
thresholds provided by current regulations. 
 
As such, the Company has been informed of the following crossings of thresholds: 
- Via a letter received by the Company on 6 January 2010, Odyssée Venture SAS, domiciled at 26 

rue de Berri, 75008 Paris, acting for the fund that it manages, declared that it passed under, on 
31 December 2009, the thresholds of 10% of the capital and of the voting rights of the Company, 
and that it held, for said fund, 450,319 NATUREX shares, representing as many voting rights, 
which is 7.08% of the capital and 9.08% of the voting rights, based on capital comprised of 
6,364,000 shares (of which 1,520,403 are preferred shares without voting rights) representing 
4,957,507 voting rights, in application of paragraph II of Article 223-11 of the General Regulation 
of the AMF; 

- Via a letter received by the Company on 6 January 2010, CIC Banque de Vizille, domiciled at 2 rue 
du Président Carnot, 69293 Lyon Cedex 02, declared that it passed under, on 31 December 2009, 
the thresholds of 5% of the capital and of the voting rights of the Company, and that it held 
205,042 NATUREX shares, representing 284,042 voting rights, which is 3.22% of the capital and 
5.73% of the voting rights, based on capital comprised of 6,364,000 shares (of which 1,520,403 
are preferred shares without voting rights) representing 4,957,507 voting rights, in application of 
paragraph II of Article 223-11 of the General Regulation of the AMF; 

 
During financial year 2010, no crossings over or under of legal thresholds were declared. 
 
Over the first half of fiscal 2011, the following threshold crossings were declared to the French 
Securities Regulator (AMF), in accordance with Article L.233-7 of the French Commercial Code: 

 
- Via a letter dated 17 May 2011, supplemented in particular by a letter dated 19 May 2011, the 

simplified joint stock company SGD declared to the AMF, in terms of a correction, that it had 
individually crossed above, on 14 December 2010, subsequent to the conversion of 75,637 
preferred shares without voting rights into ordinary shares, the threshold of 20% of the voting 

                                                           
4
 Cf. in particular the AMF decision 209C1414 of 20 November 2009. 
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rights of NATUREX and individually hold, on that date, 1,024,167 shares representing as many 
voting rights, i.e. 15.98% of the capital and 20.28% of the Company's voting rights5. 

The concert formed by Jacques Dikansky and the "Natraceutical Group" has not crossed any 
thresholds and held, at 14 December 2010, 3,456,624 NATUREX shares (of which 1,450,996 preferred 
shares without voting rights) representing 2,021,591 voting rights, i.e. 53.92% of the capital and 
40.04% of the Company's voting rights. 
Via the same letters, the following declaration of intent was made, in terms of a correction: 
SGD declared: 
 that it did not have recourse to any financing in that SGD converted 75,637 preferred shares into 

ordinary shares. The Board of Directors of NATUREX acknowledged, at its meeting on 18 
November 2010, that the conditions required for this transaction were fulfilled; 

 that on 30 December 2009 it signed an agreement with the companies in the Natraceutical 
Group (Natraceutical SA, Natra SA, Natra Cacao, Natraceutical Canada, Natraceutical Industrial 
and Cocoatech) and Jacques Dikansky, a shareholders' agreement and in terms of this acts in 
concert with  the latter. SGD acts in concert with no other third party with regards to NATUREX; 

 is not considering continuing any other transaction involving the conversion or acquisition of 
NATUREX shares and has agreed, in terms of the shareholders' agreement, to not increase its 
holdings above the conversion of preferred shares into ordinary shares and the acquisition of 
100,000 additional voting rights; 

 that it has not signed any agreement for a temporary transfer concerning the shares or voting 
rights of NATUREX; 

 that it is not considering taking control of the NATUREX company, noting that the "Dikansky 
Natraceutical" concert holds 47.76% of the capital and 31.97% of the voting rights of NATUREX; 

 that it is not considering modifying the current strategy that is implemented by the management 
of NATUREX; 

 that it is not considering any of the transactions listed in Article 233-17 6° of the AMF General 
Regulations; 

 it is not considering requesting the nomination of a director, noting that the Jacques Dikansky 
sub-concert (of which SGD is a member) is represented by Jacques Dikansky, the board of 
directors composed, on the date of the declaration, of a total of four directors. 
 

- Via a letter dated 12 May 2011, supplemented in particular by a letter dated 19 May 2011, the 
following declarations of threshold crossings were made by the companies belonging to the 
Natraceutical group: 

 the public limited company governed by Spanish law Natraceutical (Paseo Ruzafa, n° 9 porte 11, 
46002 Valence, Spain), declared that it individually crossed under, on 4 May 2011, the threshold 
of 30% of the capital of NATUREX and individually held 1,896,181 shares (of which 1,325,753 
preferred shares without voting rights) representing 570,428 voting rights, i.e. 29.58% of the 
capital and 11.32% of the Company's voting rights6; 

 the "Natraceutical Group" declared that it crossed under, on 6 May 2011, the threshold of 1/3 of 
the capital and 15% of the voting rights of NATUREX and that it held 2,021,424 NATUREX shares 
(of which 1,450,996 preferred shares without voting rights) representing 570,428 voting rights, 
i.e. 31.53% of the capital and 11.32% of the Company's voting rights; 

 the "Dikansky-Natraceutical" concert declared that it crossed under, on 6 May 2011, the 
thresholds of 50% of the capital and 1/3 of the voting rights of NATUREX and that it held 

                                                           
5
 Based on capital comprised, on that date, of 6,410,931 shares (of which 1,450,996 are preferred shares 

without voting rights), representing 5,048,923 voting rights. 
6
Based on capital comprised, on that date, of 6,410,931 shares (of which 1,450,996 are preferred shares 

without voting rights), representing 5,037,132 voting rights. 
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3,061,554 NATUREX shares (of which 1,450,996 preferred shares without voting rights) 
representing 1,610,558 voting rights, i.e. 47.76% of the capital and 31.97% of the Company's 
voting rights; 

These threshold crossings are the result of transfers of NATUREX shares in the market and off the 
market by Natraceutical, on 4 May 2011 and by Natra cacao and Cocoatech of all of their holdings on 
6 May 2011. 
After the closing of H1 2011, the following threshold crossings were declared to the French Securities 
Regulator (AMF): 

- Via a letter dated 1 August 2011, the simplified joint stock company SGD (ZAC Pôle 
technologique Agroparc, 84911 Avignon), declared that it individually crossed under, on 29 July 
2011, the thresholds of 20% of the voting rights and 15% of the capital of NATUREX and that it 
held individually 775,591 shares representing as many voting rights, i.e. 12.10% of the capital and 
15.17% of the Company's voting rights7. 

- the concert formed by Jacques Dikansky and the "Natraceutical Group" declared that it crossed 
under, on 29 July 2011, the threshold of 30% of the voting rights of NATUREX and that it held 
2,787,410 NATUREX shares (of which 1,384,572 preferred shares without voting rights), 
representing 1,402,838 voting rights, i.e. 43.48% of the capital and 27.44% of the Company's 
voting rights. 
 

These threshold crossings are the result of an off-market transfer of NATUREX shares by SGD within 
the framework of restructuring its capital (cf. in particular the press release distributed by NATUREX 
on 29 July 2011). Note that the transaction that took place concerning the capital of SGD, now 
constituted in the form of a partnership limited by shares, of which the manager-general partner is 
SARL JDK represented by Jacques Dikansky and for which the Dikansky family holds 72.08%, in terms 
of which Société Financière des Sucres (Finasucre) has acquired a holding of 25.78% in SGD, has no 
impact on the aforementioned concert. 
 

Identifiable Bearer Shares Study 

In accordance with Article 263-1 of the Law of July 24, 1966, the Company requested bearer 
securities identification from EUROCLEAR on 29 July 2011.. 

This request concerning the breakdown of the shareholding made it possible to identify 8,056 
bearers, who hold 49.2% of the Company's capital at 29 July 2011, distributed as follows: 

- Individual investors, who hold 20.0% of the capital; 
- Foreign investors located in particular in Luxembourg, the United Kingdom, Belgium and 

Switzerland, who hold 7.7% of the capital; 
- French investors and UCITS, who hold 21.5% of the capital. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
7
Based on capital comprised, on that date, of 6,410,931 shares (of which 1,384,572 are preferred shares 

without voting rights), representing 5,112,999 voting rights. 
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 Breakdown of the shareholding 
 
In light of all of the above, the breakdown of the capital and of the voting rights of NATUREX S.A. on 
the date this document was filed is as follows: 
 
 

 
 
Société Générale Securities Service – 24 August 2011 
 
 

V.4 Shares held by the company 

Treasury 

At 30 June 2011, NATUREX held 7,934 treasury shares, representing 0.12% of the share capital. These 
shares do not have voting rights and do not receive dividends or redemption of the issue premium. 
 
After 30 June 2011, the company transferred 7,000 shares held by the company which corresponded 
to shares acquired during a previous share buyback programme that had entirely elapsed. 
 
On the date this document was filed, NATUREX held 2,984 of its own shares within the framework of 
the liquidity contract signed with NATIXIS in June 2009 and which was renewed each year based on 
authorisations granted by the Company's General Shareholders' Meeting to proceed with buying and 
selling its own shares. These treasury shares represent 0.05% of the capital of NATUREX on 24 August 
2011. 

 

 

Capital
6,410,931 shares

Voting rights
5,110,640 votes

Action in concert

SGD / J. DIKANSKY 

and

NATRACEUTICAL

SGD /               
J. DIKANSKY

13.05%

Natraceutical
31.08%

Free float
55.83%

Auto-Detention

0.04%

Free float
71.73%

Natraceutical
11.90%

SGD / 
J. DIKANSKY

16.37%
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Description of the share buyback programme approved at the General Meeting of 27 June 
2011 

The General Meeting of 27 June 2011 authorised the Company, in its eighth resolution in terms of 

the ordinary meeting, to buy and sell treasury shares within the following limits: 

- Maximum share of capital authorised: 10% of the number of shares comprising the share capital, 

which for the purposes of information on 27 June 2011 was a maximum number of 641,093 

shares, this number being adjusted in order to take any operations into account that reduce or 

increase the capital which could take place during the duration of the programme ; 
- Maximum amount allocated to the programme: 35 260 115 ; 
- Maximum purchase price per share: 55,00 €. 
 
In the event of an operation concerning the capital, in particular a split or grouping together of 
shares or the allocation of shares free of charge, the aforementioned amount shall be adjusted in the 
same proportions (multiplier equal to the ratio between of the number of shares comprising the 
capital before the operation and the number of shares after the operation). 
 
The objectives of the Company's share buyback programme, such as authorised by the General 
Shareholders' Meeting of 27 June 2011 are as follows: 
- Ensuring the operation of the secondary market or liquidity for the NATUREX share through the 

intermediary of an investment services provider via a liquidity contract in accordance with the 
code of professional conduct of the AMAFI as authorised by the AMF; 

- Retaining the purchased shares and subsequently using them in exchange or as payment within 
the framework of any external growth operations, with the stipulation that the shares acquired 
to this effect cannot exceed 5% of the company's capital; 

- Ensuring hedging for share purchase option plans and other forms of share allocation for 
employees and/or executive officers in the group under the conditions and according to the 
methods provided for by law, in particular concerning profit sharing, in terms of a company 
savings plan or through the allocation of shares free of charge; 

- Ensuring hedging for securities that give rights to the allocation of company shares within the 
framework of the current regulations; 

- Cancelling any shares acquired as such, subject to authorisation by this General Shareholders' 
Meeting in resolution nine in terms of the extraordinary meeting. 

 
These purchases of shares can take place via any means, including through the acquisition of blocks 
of securities, and at periods that the Board of Directors deem fit. 

These operations can be carried out during a public share offer in compliance with Article 232-15 of 
the AMF General Regulations if, on the one hand, the offer is settled entirely in cash and, on the 
other hand, the purchasing operations are carried out within the framework of continuing the 
execution of the programme in progress and in that they are not likely to cause the offer to fail. 

The company reserves the right to use optional mechanisms or derivative instruments within the 
framework of the applicable regulations.  

The General Meeting conferred full powers on the Board of Directors to exercise these operations, 
set forth the conditions and the methods for them, conclude any agreements and carry out any 
formalities.  
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This authorisation was granted for 18 months starting from the General Meeting of 27 June 2011. 
This authorisation replaces the authorisation granted to the Board of Directors by the General 
Meeting of 30 June 2010. 

 
During the previous share buyback programme, the Company did not make use of any derivative 
products and to date does not hold any open positions on derivative products. The Company also did 
not use its authorisation to cancel shares held. 

 
Report on the liquidity contract 

- The execution mandate for this share buyback programme was entrusted to NATIXIS since June 

2009, which intervenes as an investment services provider (underwriter) to purchase securities 

for and in the name of the Company, in compliance with Articles 5 and 6 of Regulation 

2273/2003 of the European Commission of 22 December 2003, and in accordance with the code 

of professional conduct of the AMAFI as authorised by the AMF. 

 
The Company files the monthly declarations with the AMF concerning the purchases and sales of 
securities within the framework of the liquidity contract, distributes reports every six months on the 
liquidity contract and publishes them on its internet website. 
 
In terms of the liquidity contract entrusted by NATUREX to NATIXIS, the following resources were on 

the liquidity account at 30 June 2011:  

- 934 NATUREX shares 
- 314,823.46 euros  

 

Recall that at the latest half-year report on the contract, at 31 December 2010, the following 

resources were on the liquidity account: 

- 5,632 NATUREX shares 
- 103,376.35 euros 

 
 

V.5 Potential capital 

The Joint Shareholders' Meeting of 27 June 2011 authorised the Board of Directors, in application of 
Articles L. 225-177 to L. 255-185 of the French Commercial Code, to grant, on one or more occasions, 
options to subscribe to new company shares or purchase existing Company shares, benefitting 
salaried employees, or some of them, and/or company directors as governed by Article L. 225-185 of 
the French Commercial Code, of the Company or companies that are linked to it either directly or 
indirectly in terms of Article L. 225-180 of the French Commercial Code. 
The General Meeting decided that the total number of options that will be opened may not confer 

the right to subscribe to or purchase a number of shares representing more than 3% of the existing 

share capital on the day of the first allocation. 

The subscription price for new shares or purchase price for existing shares shall be determined by the 

Board of Directors, on the day the options are allocated, and may not be less than the minimum price 

established by the applicable existing regulations. 
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The Joint Shareholders' Meeting of 27 June 2011 has acknowledged that no option can be granted (i) 

during a period of ten trading days preceding and following the date on which the annual 

consolidated financial statements are made public, (ii) during the period between the date on which 

the Company becomes aware of information which, if made public, could have a significant impact 

on the Company’s share price, and the ten trading days after this information is made public, and (iii) 

less than twenty trading days after detaching a coupon giving the right to dividends or to an increase 

in capital. 

This authorisation is valid for a period of 38 months starting on 27 June 2011. 

On the date this document was filed, the Company had not made use of this new authorisation. 

 
Over H1 2011, the Board of Directors exercising the powers previously granted by the Joint 
Shareholders' Meeting of 30 June 2010, granted during the session of 15 April 2011, a total of 57,094 
stock subscription options benefitting employees and/or company directors of the Company or of 
the Group.  
 

The main characteristics of this plan are as follows:  

- Strike price: average of the opening listed price of the twenty trading sessions preceding the 
allocation, i.e. 45.33 euros at 15 April 2011; 

- Duration of validity: five years starting from the date the options are allocated, i.e. until 15 April 
2016; 

- Exercise period: at the end of a three-year acquisition period starting on the date of allocation, 
i.e. until 15 April 2014;  

- Obligation to retain the shares for two years starting from the starting date of exercise, i.e. until 
15 April 2016; 

- Cancellation by right in the event the labour contract or the company mandate is interrupted, 
except for death or retirement. 

 
On the date this document was filed, in light of the options that have expired, the maximum dilution 
resulting from the various stock subscription plans would be 3.46%. 
  



Half-year financial report 
Fiscal Year 2011 (1 January to 30 June 2011)

 

38 Half-Year Financial Report 2011 | NATUREX S.A 

 

 

 History of the allocation of stock subscription options 

The situation of the stock subscription option plans in effect on the date this document was filed, 
implemented by the Board of Directors subsequent to decisions taken during the General Meetings 
on 28 June 2004, 14 June 2006, 30 June 2007, 30 June 2008, 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2010, is as 
follows: 
 

 Plan no. 9 Plan no. 10 Plan no. 11 Plan no. 12 Plan no. 13 Plan no. 14 

Date of allocation by the Board of 
Directors 23/03/2006 27/03/2007 25/03/2008 13/03/2009 26/04/2010 15/04/2011 

Date of the GM  
authorising the allocations 

28/06/2004 14/06/2006 30/06/2007 30/06/2008 30/06/2009 30/06/2010 

Strike price (€) 45.15 49.65 27.54 24.00 30.12 45.33 

Start date  
for exercise of options 23/03/2009 27/03/2010 25/03/2011 13/03/2012 26/04/2013 15/04/2014 

Expiry date 23/03/2011 27/03/2012 25/03/2013 13/03/2014 26/04/2015 15/04/2016 

Total number of options allocated 39,196 23,929 47,362 53,650 52,150 57,094 

of which top 10 allottees 4,495 4,560 5,600 10,500 12,200 12,000 

of which company officers  30,500 13,000 33,000 33,000 26,000 26,000 

Jacques Dikansky 25,000 10,000 25,000 25,000 18,000 18,000 

Thierry Lambert 3,000 1,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 

Stéphane Ducroux 2,500 1,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 

Total number of beneficiaries 35 48 59 64 78 195 

of which company officers 3 3 3 3 3 3 

Number of expired options  39,196 3,939 4,150 2,086 2,022 - 

Number of options subscribed - - - - - - 

of which company officers - - - - - - 

Number of options outstanding 0 19,990 43,212 51,564 50,128 57,094 

Plans 1 to 8, which have come to term, are entirely elapsed and are no longer mentioned on this summary table. 

Plan no. 9 came to term on 23 March 2011; it is consequently entirely lapsed at the close of H1 2011. 
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 Options granted to company directors and to the first ten non-director employees over the 
period from 1 January to 30 June 2011 

Stock subscription options granted to each 

company director and options exercised by the 

latter 

Total number of 

options 

exercised/shares 

subscribed 

Price (EUR) Plan Maturity 

Options granted over the period from 1 January to 

30 June 2011 to company directors by the issuer 

and by any company in the group 
26,000 45.33 14 15/04/2016 

Options exercised over the period from 1 January to 

30 June 2011 by company directors of the issuer 

and of any company in the group 
None 

Stock purchase or subscription options granted 

to the top ten non-director employees allottees 

and options exercised by the latter 

Total number of 

options 

exercised/shares 

subscribed 

Average 

weighted 

price (EUR) 

Plan Maturity 

Options granted over the period from 1 January to 

30 June 2011 by the issuer and by any company 

included within the allocation scope of the options, 

to the ten employees of the issuer and of any 

company included within this scope, for whom the 

number of options granted as such is the highest 

12,000 45.33 14 15/04/2016 

Options held on the issuer and the aforementioned 

companies exercised, over the period from 1 

January to 30 June 2011, by the ten employees of 

the issuer and of these companies, for whom the 

number of options subscribed as such is the highest 

None 

 

No exercise was recorded by the Company on the date this document was filed. 
 

V.6 Appropriation of income for the period ending 31 December 2010 and 
dividend distribution 

Appropriation of income for fiscal 2010 and dividend distribution 

The General Meeting of NATUREX S.A., meeting on 27 June 2011, as requested by the Board of 

directors, decided to appropriate the entire amount of the deficit of the period standing at € 

353,330.66 to the "Retained earnings" item which as such will change from € 1,585.98€ to € -

351,744.68, and to deduct from the "Statutory reserves" item standing at € 1,525,584.27, the 

amount of € 640,393.10 for the dividend. 

The General Meeting acknowledged that the total dividend pertaining to each share is set to € 0.10, 

and the entire amount of the sum distributed is eligible for the 40% tax allowance mentioned in 

Article 158-3-2° of the French General Tax Code. 

Payment will be made on 30 September 2011. 

In addition, it was specified that in the case where, at the time of payment of these dividends, the 
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company were to hold some of its own shares, the amounts corresponding to the dividends that are 

not paid concerning these shares would be appropriated to retained earnings. 

 
Option for the payment of the dividend in cash or in shares 

The Shareholders' Meeting of 27 June 2011 also offered shareholders the possibility to opt for the 
payment of the dividend in cash or in shares between 20 July and 20 September 2011. After this 
period, shareholders who have not exercised their option via their financial intermediary will only be 
able to receive their dividend in cash. 
 
The price of the share used as payment for the dividend was set to 50.64 euros, which is equal to 
90% of the average of the prices listed over the twenty trading sessions preceding the date of the 
Shareholders' Meeting, less the net amount of the dividend. 
 
If the amount of the dividends for which the option is exercised does not correspond to a whole 
number of shares, the shareholder can: 
- either obtain the number of shares rounded up to the next whole amount, by paying the 

difference in cash; 
- or obtain the number of shares rounded down to the next whole amount, plus a balance in cash. 
 
The "record date" was set to 19 July 2011 and the "detaching date" to 20 July 2011. 
 
Two Euronext notices providing details on the practical procedures for this option were published on 
21 June and 18 July 2011.  
 
The payment of the dividend in cash and the admission of the new shares to NYSE Euronext Paris will 
take place on 30 September 2011. 
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VI. Shareholders' notebook 

NATUREX has been listed since October 1996 on NYSE Euronext in Paris, compartment B 
 
Number of shares comprising the capital on the date this document was filed: 6,410,931 
 5,026,359 ordinary shares (ISIN FR0000054694) 
 1,384,572 preferred shares (ISIN FR0010833251) 
 
NATUREX is part of the CAC Small and Gaïa Indexes.  

NATUREX is eligible for "long only" Deferred Settlement Service (SRD). 

MNEMO: NRX - Reuters: NATU.PA - Bloomberg: NRX: FP 

 Change in the value 

 Price (in €) Volumes  
(in number of securities) 

Capital  
(in thousands of €) 

 Average 
(closing) 

High Low Per month Per quotation 
session 

Monthly total 

Fiscal year 2008 27.33 37.49 20.15 87,728 4,087 2.38 

Fiscal year 2009 25.54 32.10 18.60 87,895 4,185 2.31 

January 2010 27.58 28.51 26.75 56,391 2,820 1.56 

February 2010 27.66 29.00 26.54 42,539 2,127 1.18 

March 2010 27.85 29.99 26.91 126,429 5,497 3.52 

April 2010 30.38 31.00 29.00 70,464 3,523 2.13 

May 2010 29.75 31.85 25.00 98,205 4,676 2.92 

June 2010 29.94 30.60 29.50 34,963 1,589 1.05 

July 2010 30.31 30.94 29.01 47,825 2,174 1.45 

August 2010 31.18 32.50 30.71 82,601 3,755 2.59 

September 2010 36.87 42.77 32.00 253,394 11,518 9.44 

October 2010 42.46 45.00 38.01 228,008 10,858 9.62 

November 2010 43.49 44.39 41.91 133,367 6,062 5.81 

December 2010 41.07 43.60 39.74 114,969 4,999 4.71 

Fiscal year 2010 33.21 45.00 25.00 107,430 4,967 3.83 

January 2011 42.50 44.49 40.70 147,664 7,032 6.32 

February 2011 42.08 43.45 38.50 109,848 5,492 4.62 

March 2011 42.31 44.25 40.70 301,525 13,110 12.80 

April 2011 49.67 53.78 44.62 394,607 20,769 19.11 

May 2011 53.03 59.49 50.25 324,250 14,739 17.42 

June 2011 56.27 60.35 52.51 236,774 10,762 13.40 

H1 2011 47.64 60.35 38.50 242,629 12,941 73.67 

July 2011 56.40 63.50 51.75 242,748 11,559 13.83 

Source: NYSE Euronext Paris (Monthly information, Extremes and averages for the period) 

 

During H1 2011, the average volume of securities traded per month stood at 242,629 securities 
generating € 73.67 million in capital over the period, and the average price was € 47.64 per share. 
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At 30 June 2011, the closing price of the NATUREX share was 60.05 euros for 47,314 securities 
traded. Market capitalisation was € 385.0 million. 

 Securities management 

Management of pure registered shares is provided by: 

SOCIETE GENERALE SECURITIES SERVICE 

Service Nominatif Clientèle Emetteurs 

B.P. 81236 

44312 NANTES CEDEX 3 

 Management of the liquidity contract 

NATIXIS Corporate Broking 

 Analyst monitoring 

ARROWHEAD, BERENBERG BANK, KEPLER CAPITAL MARKET, NATIXIS, PORTZAMPARC, ID Midcaps. 

 Financial communications schedule - 2011 

Fiscal year 2011 – H2 

Q3 revenue 4 November 2011 

Q3 results 30 November 2011 

Annual revenue 24 January 2012 

Annual results 30 March 2012 
Distributed at the end of the Trading Day 

 

 Upcoming events 

Events in 2011 

SFAF meeting (H1 results) Paris 16 September 2011 

Midcap Event Paris 22-23 September 2011 

Berenberg Chemicals Sector Conference - London 04 October 2011 

Actionaria Paris 18-19 November 2011 
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VII. Description of the main risks and uncertainties for the 
remaining six months of the financial period 

Details on the financial risk management policy are provided in Note 16 of the Notes to the 
consolidated half-year financial statements. 

Except for the items mentioned in this note, the Company has not detected, for the six upcoming 
months, any significant change in the risks and uncertainties inherent to the activity, the structure, 
the strategy and the market environment such as described in the Registration Document 2010 
pages 48 to 53 (Chapter on Sustainable Development - §III-Identifying and managing the main factors 
of risks), filed with the French Securities Regulator (AMF) on 28 April 2011 under number D.11-0389 
and available on the company's internet site (www.naturex.com) or on the AMF's website 
(www.amf-france.org). 

VIII. Outlook – trends 

Demand for more natural alternatives for certain ingredients is strong and growing, both 
geographically (traditional markets in Western Europe and North America / emerging markets in 
Asia, Latin America and Eastern Europe), but also from a sector standpoint (high penetration of 
natural ingredients not only in the food industry but also in products with beneficial health effects 
and cosmetics). 

The performance over H1 of 2011 confirms the technical know-how as well as the commercial 
dynamism of Naturex on markets that are sustainably promising. 

Backed with these results and its ability to develop new innovative projects with high value added, 

the Group is confirming for the entire fiscal year of 2011, its targets of double-digit growth in sales 

and an operating margin between 12 and 13% of revenue, in constant currencies and constant scope. 

NATUREX as such intends to continue its development strategy based on the one hand on sustained 
organic growth, and on the other hand, on a targeted acquisition research policy that will bear 
synergies. 

  

http://www.naturex.com/
http://www.amf-france.org/
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

In thousands of euros
Notes 30/06/2011 31/12/2010

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 187 332 189 476

Goodwill 6 81 534 83 867

Other intabgible fixed assets 7 7 735 6 311

Tangible fixed assets 7 91 773 92 313

Financial assets 7 847 724

Shares accounted for using the equity method 8 130 546

Deferred tax assets 9 5 314 5 716

CURRENT ASSETS 176 939 168 665

Inventories 10 104 626 98 227

Current derivative instruments 8 87 267

Tax receivables 811 3 063

Trade and other receivables 11 59 257 49 648

Cash and cash equivalents 12 12 157 17 460

TOTAL ASSETS 364 271 358 141

En milliers d' euros
30/06/2011 31/12/2010

Capital 9 616 9 616

Issue premium 118 447 118 447

Reserves 38 073 25 882

Result 9 734 14 817

SHAREHOLDERS'EQUITY 175 871 168 763

Group share 175 513 168 403

Minority interest 358 360

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 116 690 124 355

Long-term financial debt 13 100 129 108 439

Non-current derivative instruments 8 2 024 2 534

Employee benefits 14 2 575 2 202

Deferred taxes 9 11 962 11 181

PASSIF COURANT 71 710 65 023

Financial debts 13 12 551 9 852

Current derivative instruments 8 654 702

Short-term provisions 15  - 632

Tax payables 2 250 1 321

Trade and other payables 54 707 51 222

Bank overdrafts 13 1 549 1 293

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES 364 271 358 141
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

 

In thousands of euros

Notes 30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Revenue 17 127 925 112 090

Inventories 6 822 2 449

Operating subsidies 1 321 494

Other operating revenues 2 039 4 109

Purchases  -59 307  -49 329

Payroll expenses 18  -24 019  -21 943

External expenses 19  -31 167  -25 319

Taxes  -510  -409

Depreciation and amortization 7  -6 197  -5 380

Other operating expenses 20  -878  -2 474

OPERATING INCOME 17 16 029 14 287

Cash and cash equivalents 138 54

Cost of gross financial debt  -2 938  -2 810

COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT 21  -2 800  -2 756

OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 21 913  -337

INCOME BEFORE TAX 14 142 11 194

TAX EXPENSE 22  -4 408  -3 591

NET INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 9 734 7 603

Income for the period attribuable to:

   company owners 9 735 7 621

   minority interests  -1 -18 

Earnings per share: 23,2

   basic earnings per share (in euros) 1,5186 1,1932

   diluted earnings per share (in euros) 1,4677 1,1565
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SUMMARY OF GLOBAL RESULTS 

 

 

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

NET INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 9 734 7 603

Profi/loss arising out of the translation of the financial statements of foreign entities  -2 234 11 475

Fair Value of hedging instruments  -3 990

Real part of the variation of fair value of hedging of cash flow 306

Deferred tax on hedging instruments  -103 1 330

TOTAL GLOBAL INCOME 7 704 16 418

Group share 7 705 16 426

Minority interests  -1  -8
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 
 

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Income  9 734    7 603   

Adjustments with no impact on cash flow:

Net depreciation and a l lowances  4 819    4 956   

Income and expenses  l inked to s tock options  45    61   

Capita l  ga ins/(losses) on disposals  47    4   

Cost of net financia l  debt  2 800    2 756   

Other financia l  income and expense (913)    337   

Net tax expense  4 408    3 591   

Net cash flow from operating activities, before change in WCR  20 939    19 308   

Impôt versé (3 029)   (1 898)   

Variation des stocks (7 004)   (15 634)   

Variation des créances clients et comptes rattachés (8 088)   (16 658)   

Variation des dettes fournisseurs et comptes rattachés  3 479    11 914   

Net cash flow from operating activities A  6 298   (2 968)   

Intangible investments (2 217)   (2 265)   

Tangible investments (5 130)   (5 298)   

Financia l  investments (371)   (63)   

Disposal  of fixed assets  30    4   

Repayment of long-term investments  250    112   

Net cash flow from investment activities B (7 438)   (7 510)   

Capita l  increase - shareholders  of the Parent (warrants  and s tock-options)  -    639   

Net dividends  pa id to shareholders  of the Parent  -    -   

Col lection related to net borrowings  7 000    13 794   

Loan repayments , net of derivative instruments (7 659)   (9 993)   

Change in other financia l  l iabi l i ties (408)   (393)   

Financia l  interests  pa id (2 229)   (3 129)   

Net cash flow from financing activities C (3 296)    918   

Change in cash flow A+B+C (4 436)   (9 560)   
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CHANGE IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

 

Group share 

 

 

 

 

  

Capital Premium Own Groupe Translation Income Shareholders'

Group share shares reserves differences (Group share) equity

In thousands of euros (Group share)

Shareholders'equity as at 1st January 2011 9 616  118 447   (201)  26 625   (894)  14 810  168 403  

Income for the year 9 735  9 735  

Change in translation differences  (2 234)   (2 234)  

Fair value of hedging instruments, net of tax 203  203  

Other components of overall income  -    -    -   203   (2 234)   -    (2 031)  

Total income of the period  -    -    -   203   (2 234)  9 735  7 705  

Appropriation of income  -    -    -   14 810   -    (14 810)   -   

Dividends paid  -    -    -    (640)   -    -    (640)  

Capital increase  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Exercise of stock warrants  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Exercise of stock options  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Allocation of stock options  -    -    -   45   -    -   45  

Change in own shares  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Minority shares acquired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total transactions with owners  -    -    -   14 215   -    (14 810)   (595)  

Shareholders'equity as at 30 June 2011 9 616  118 447   (201)  41 042   (3 128)  9 735  175 513  

Capital Premium Own Groupe Translation Income Shareholders'

Group share shares reserves differences (Group share) equity

In thousands of euros (Group share)

Shareholders'equity as at 1st January 2010 9 546  117 265   (201)  24 098   (11 540)  5 247  144 414  

Income for the year 7 621  7 621  

Change in translation differences 11 465  11 465  

Fair value of hedging instruments, net of tax  (2 660)   (2 660)  

Other components of overall income  -    -    -    (2 660)   -    -    (2 660)  

Total income of the period  -    -    -    (2 660)  11 465  7 621  16 426  

Appropriation of income  -    -    -   5 247   -    (5 247)   -   

Dividends paid  -    -    -    (700)   -    -    (700)  

Capital increase  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Exercise of stock warrants  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Exercise of stock options 35  604   -    -    -    -   639  

Allocation of stock options  -    -    -   61   -    -   61  

Change in own shares  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Minority shares acquired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total transactions with owners 35  604   -   4 607   -    (5 247)   (1)  

Shareholders'equity as at 30 June 2010 9 581  117 869   (201)  26 045   (75)  7 621  160 839  
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Holdings that do not give access to control 

 

 

 

 

  

Shareholders' Total

Consolidated equity
Translation

Shareholders' Shareholders'

In thousands of euros (Group share)
differences

equity equity

Shareholders' equity as at 1st January 2011 168 403  408   (56)  8  360  168 763  

Income for the year 9 735   (1)   (1)  9 734  

Change in translation differences  (2 234)   -    ()   -    ()   (2 234)  

Fair value of hedging instruments, net of tax 203   -    -    -    -   203  

Other components of overall income  (2 031)   -    ()   -    ()   (2 031)  

Total income of the period 7 705   -    ()   (1)   (1)  7 704  

Appropriation of income  -   8   -    (8)   -    -   

Dividends paid  (640)   -    -    -    -    (640)  

Capital increase  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Exercise of stock warrants  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Exercise of stock options  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Allocation of stock options 45   -    -    -    -   45  

Change in own shares  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Minority shares acquired  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total of transactions with owners  (595)  8   -    (8)   -    (595)  

Shareholders' equity as at 30 June 2011 175 513  416   (56)   (1)  358  175 871  

Holdings that do not give access to control

Reserve Income

Shareholders' Total

Consolidated equity
Translation

Shareholders' Shareholders'

In thousands of euros (Group share)
differences

equity equity

Shareholders' equity as at 1st January 2010 144 414  408   (55)    353  144 767  

Income for the year 7 621   (18)   (18)  7 603  

Change in translation differences 11 465  10  10  11 475  

Fair value of hedging instruments, net of tax  (2 660)   -    (2 660)  

Other components of overall income 8 805   -   10   -   10  8 815  

Total income of the period 16 426   -   10   (18)   (8)  16 418  

Appropriation of income  -      ()   -    -   

Dividends paid  (700)   -    (700)  

Capital increase  -    -    -   

Exercise of stock warrants  -    -    -   

Exercise of stock options 639   -   639  

Allocation of stock options 61   -   61  

Change in own shares  -    -    -   

Minority shares acquired  -    -    -   

Total of transactions with owners  (1)     -    ()   -    (1)  

Shareholders' equity as at 30 June 2010 160 839  408   (45)   (18)  345  161 185  

Reserve Income

Holdings that do not give access to control
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NOTE 1  GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1 Highlights 

1.1.1  Successful integration in record time, very strong organic growth 

Fiscal year 2010 was marked by the successful integration in record time of the Ingredients Division 

of Natraceutical, acquired in December 2009. 

This extensive operation allowed the Group to double its size and impose itself as a world leader in 

specialty plant-based ingredients, generating very strong organic growth: revenue for the period 

stands at € 127,925 thousand, up +13.1% in constant currencies compared to the first half of 2010 

when revenue stood at € 112,090 thousand. 

1.1.2 Development of sales locations 

Backed with reinforced industrial and sales positioning in fiscal 2010 following the integration of the 

Ingredients Division of Natraceutical, NATUREX, during the first half-year, continued developing is 

sales network with the opening of three companies: 

- in Canada: "Naturex Inc Canada" on 10 February 2011, and registered in the province of New 

Brunswick;  

- in Japan: "NATUREX Kabushiki Kaisha" on 16 March 2011, as a replacement for the Japanese 

branch; 

- in Korea: "NATUREX" on 08 April 2011 and registered with the office of the Seoul Central 

District Court. 

 

1.2 Events occurring after closure 
Naturex Ingredientes Naturales SA de CV, of which the head office is located at Oxford 30 Juarez                                

Distrito Federal 066000 Mexico, was created on 14 July 2011. Its objective is to increase the group's 

sales network. 
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NOTE 2 CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 

2.1 Consolidated companies and methods 
At 30 June 2011, Naturex's consolidation scope breaks down as follows: 

 

Company name Address % control % stake Consolidation method

Naturex SA

Site D'Agroparc - BP 1218

84911 AVIGNON Cedex 9

N° SIRET 384 093 563 000 29

Code APE : 2053Z

N/A N/A Full consolidation

KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd                     

(anciennement Kingfood Australia Pty Ltd)

9 Garling Road, Kings Park, 

NSW 2148, 

Australie

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex AG (anciennement Obipektin AG)

Industriestrasse, 8, 

9220 Bischofszell

Suisse 

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Australia Pty Ltd

9 Garling Road, Kings Park, 

NSW 2148, 

Australie

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Coöperatief U.A

Lairessestraat 154, 1075 HL 

Amesterdam, 

Pays -Bas

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Cooperative LLC

2711 Centerville Road, 

Suite 400, Wilmington, 

DE 19808, USA

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex (Corée)

Room 503, Leaders Bldg, 274-4, 

SeoHyun-dong, BunDang-gu, 

SeongNam-si, GyeongGi-do, 463-824 

Korea

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex GMBH

Kranhais Süd Zolhafen 24,                  

50678 Köln

Allemagne

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Holdings Inc

2711 Centerville Road, 

Suite 400, Wilmington, 

DE 19808, USA

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Inc

375 Huyler Street

South Hackensack, NJ 07606

U.S.A

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Inc ( Canada)

5955 Airport Road Suite 206

Mississauga L4VIR9, Ontario

Canada
100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex - Ingredientes Naturais Ltda 

(anciennement Exnama - Extractos Naturais 

Da Amazonia Ltda )

Av. Buriti 5391 distrito Industrial

69075-000 Manaus 

Brésil

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex K.K

TKK Bldg. 8th Floor, 1-2, Kanda-

Tomiyamacho, Chiyoda-ku, 101-0043 

Tokyo, Japan

100% 100% Full consolidation
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2.2 Changes in consolidation scope over the period 
The group created 3 subsidiaries over the period, fully owned by Naturex SA: 

- Naturex Inc Canada; 
- Naturex Kabushiki Kaisha in Japan; 
- Naturex in Korea. 

Their contribution in the results and shareholders' equity for the period is not significant. 

 

 

 

Company name Address % control % stake Consolidation method

Naturex LLC 

(anciennement Natraceutical Russia OOO)

15 Krijanovskogo Str. Block 5, Office 211                                                 

11728 Moscou, Russie
99% 99% Full consolidation

Naturex Ltd

(anciennement Overseal Natural 

Ingredients Ltd)

Swadlincote, Derbyshire, 

DE12 6JX, 

United Kingdom
100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Maroc

Technopole Nouasser

BP 42 - 20240 Nouasser

MAROC

96% 96% Full consolidation

Naturex Spa

Via Galileo Ferraris, 44, 

21042 Caronno Pertusella (VA)

 ITALIE

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Spain SL 

(anciennement Xerutan SL)

Autovía A3, salida 343. Camino de 

Torrent S/N

46930 Quart de Poblet 

Espagne

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex SPRL

Val d'or

Guldelle 96

1200 Brussels

Belgique

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex Trading Shanghai Co, Ltd

Room 318, Building 2 N°8

1305, Huajing Road, Xuhui District

Shanghai, 200231

China

100% 100% Full consolidation

Naturex UK

Swadlincote, Derbyshire, 

DE12 6JX, 

United Kingdom
100% 100% Full consolidation

SCI Les Broquetons

Site D'Agroparc - BP 1218

84911 AVIGNON Cedex 9

France

100% 100% Full consolidation

The Talin Co Ltd

Master House, 107 Hammersmith Road

London, W140QH,

United Kingdom

100% 100% Full consolidation

Biopolis

c/ Catedrático Agustín Escardino, 9 Edif. 

2

Parc Científic Universitat de Valencia

46980 Paterna (Valencia) 

25% 25% Not consolidated

Sanavie

3 place du marché

1860 Aigle

Suisse

35% 35% Not consolidated
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2.3 Organisational structure 
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2.4 Affiliates and holdings 
No company in the consolidation scope is a shareholder or affiliate of an ad hoc entity. 

2.4.1 Sanavie 

The company has not been able to produce any audited accounts since fiscal 2009, and all of the 

assets linked to it have been depreciated. 

As Naturex group has not undertaken any commitments beyond its initial investment, there is no 

need to calculate any additional risk. 

2.4.2 Biopolis 

During the business combination with the Ingredients Division of Natraceutical, the group acquired a 

24.9% share in the research and development company Biopolis SL.  

NOTE 3 COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 

The summarised interim financial statements have been drawn up in compliance with IAS 34 - 

Interim Financial Reporting. They do not contain all of the information that is required for full annual 

financial statements and must be read along with the Group's consolidated financial statements 

published for the period ended 31 December 2010, available on the website www.naturex.com. 

The summarised consolidated interim financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with 

the principles governing the accounting and valuation of transactions such as they are stipulated in 

the IFRS standards adopted by the European Union on that date. 

The summarised interim consolidated financial statements were drawn up under the responsibility of 

the Board of Directors of 24 August 2011. 

http://www.naturex.com/
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NOTE 4 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 

4.1 New standards 

The accounting methods applied by the Group in the summarised interim financial statements are 

identical to those used for the consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 December 

2010. 

4.2  Estimations and opinions 

When drawing up consolidated financial statements, hypotheses, estimations or assessments are 

sometimes needed to establish certain data, particularly when it comes to calculating provisions and 

carrying out fair value tests. These hypotheses, estimations or valuations are established on the basis 

of the information available or actual scenarios when the accounts are closed. They are also based 

upon past experience and various other factors. 

Underlying estimations and hypotheses are based upon past experience and other factors that are 

deemed to be plausible in light of the circumstances. They in turn serve as a basis in establishing the 

accounting values of assets and liabilities which cannot be directly ascertained from any other 

sources. Real values can obviously differ from estimated values. 

Underlying estimations and hypotheses are constantly re-examined. The impact of changes in 

accounting estimations is booked over the period in question where only that period is affected, or 

over the period and any subsequent periods where the latter are also affected by the change. 

All information on the main areas of uncertainty linked to the estimations and assessments made in 

applying the accounting methods that are liable to have a substantial impact on the amounts 

disclosed in the financial statements is reported in the following notes: 

- Note 5  Valuation rules and methods – Goodwill 

- Note 5  Valuation rules and methods – Inventories 

4.3 Seasonal effects 

Naturex’s activities are rarely exposed to seasonal effects.  

While the supply of certain raw materials is dependent on harvesting times, it is essentially spread 

over the full year with a slight peak in spring and at the start of summer. The supply of extracts is not 

at all affected by any seasonal effects. 

Group sales are also globally unaffected by any seasonal effects. Certain specific product ranges are 

subject to seasonal effects, such as colouring agents and flavourings for drinks in the Food & 

Beverage Division in spring and summer, and a few of the Nutrition & Health product ranges which 

record higher growth in autumn and winter. Globally-speaking, these products offset each other and 

the group’s product mix is such that it is not exposed to any marked seasonal impact. 
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4.4 Entry value of assets and liabilities 

The dates for closing the accounts are all set at 31 December. 

The summarised consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent 

company as well as those companies controlled by the parent on the date the accounts are closed. 

Here the notion of control is taken to mean the power to define and manage the financial and 

operational strategies of a company in order to benefit from its activities. The subsidiaries over which 

the group exercises control, whether directly or indirectly, are fully consolidated. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions are booked at the historic rate at the time they are carried out.  

The exchange rate differences resulting from these conversions are booked to the income statement, 

except for a financial liability designated as a hedge for a net investment in a foreign entity, or 

qualified instruments for hedging cash flow, which are booked as other components of the overall 

result. 

When the settlement for a monetary item which is a receivable or a debt to be paid to a foreign 

entity is not scheduled or likely in the foreseeable future, the resulting foreign exchange gains and 

losses are considered to be part of the net investment in the foreign entity and are booked as other 

components of the overall result and are presented in the translation reserve. 

Translation of accounts expressed in foreign currencies 

The accounts of the Group's foreign subsidiaries are held in their working currencies 

The balance sheets of those companies whose working currency is not the euro are translated at the 

closing rate, except for shareholders' equity which is converted at its historical rate. 

Income statements are converted according to the average rate for the period which, major 

fluctuations aside, is generally close to the rate applying on the date of the transaction. 

Translation differences are booked separately to "Translation differences" under shareholders' 

equity and factor in: the impact of changes in exchange rates on assets and liabilities and the 

difference between income calculated according to the average rate and income calculated 

according to the closing rate.  

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising out of the acquisition of those subsidiaries whose 

working currency is not the euro are not booked under the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary. 

They are therefore expressed in the subsidiary's working currency and converted at the closing rate. 
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The closing dates used are as follows: 

 

The average rates used are as follows: 

 

Closing rate

30 June 2011 31 December 2010 30 June 2010

Austra l ia EUR / AUD 1,3485                            1,3136                            1,4403                            

Brazi l EUR / BRL 2,2601                            2,2177                            2,2082                            

Canada EUR / CAD 1,3951                            

China EUR / RMB 9,3416                            8,8220                            8,3215                            

Korea EUR / KRW 1 543,1900                     

Japan EUR / JPY 116,2500                        

Morocco EUR / MAD 11,3111                          11,2412                          10,9242                          

Russ ia EUR / RUB 40,4000                          40,8200                          38,2820                          

Switzerland EUR / CHF 1,2071                            1,2504                            1,3283                            

UK EUR / GBP 0,9025                            0,8608                            0,8175                            

USA EUR / USD 1,4453                            1,3362                            1,2271                            

Country Currency

Average rate

30 June 2011 31 December 2010 30 June 2010

Austra l ia EUR / AUD 1,3549 1,4597                            1,5033                            

Brazi l EUR / BRL 2,2881 2,2976                            2,3150                            

Canada EUR / CAD 1,3985

China EUR / RMB 9,2406 9,0104                            9,1349                            

Korea EUR / KRW 1543,1900

Japan EUR / JPY 117,4739

Morocco EUR / MAD 11,3525 11,1390                          11,1631                          

Russ ia EUR / RUB 40,3950 40,3850                          40,1209                          

Switzerland EUR / CHF 1,2738 1,3951                            1,4526                            

UK EUR / GBP 0,8700 0,8588                            0,8782                            

USA EUR / USD 1,4086 1,3220                            1,3412                            

Country Currency
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NOTE 5 VALUATION RULES AND METHODS 

5.1 Goodwill 

In application of revised accounting standard IFRS 3, during a business combination, the Group 

evaluates the goodwill as the fair value of the counterparty transferred (including the fair value of 

any holdings that was previously held in the acquired company) plus the amount booked for any 

holdings that to not give access to control in the acquired company, less the net amount booked 

(generally the fair value) of the acquired assets and liabilities.  All of these items are valued at the 

date of acquisition. When the difference is negative, a profit in terms of the acquisition at 

advantageous conditions is immediately booked to the income statement. 

 

The group has chosen, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to value, on the date of acquisition any 

holding that does not give access to control, either at fair value, or at the share in the net assets 

which can be identified in the acquired company. 

 

For acquisitions taking place prior to 1 January 2010, the goodwill represents the surplus of the cost 

of acquisition compared to the share of the Group in the amounts booked (generally at fair value) in 

terms of the assets, liabilities and possible liabilities.  

Costs linked to the acquisition, other than those linked to the issue of a debt or equity securities, that 

the Group would incur due to the business combination, were taken into account in the cost of 

acquisition. 

 

Goodwill is allocated to the group’s cash generating units (CGUs).  

The CGUs retained by the Group correspond to the operating segments, numbering 3, such as 

described in Note 5.10: 

- Americas 

- Europe, Africa, Russia 

- Asia. 

 

In line with IFRS 3 revised governing "Business combinations", goodwill is not amortised. It is subject 

to depreciation tests as soon as there is any sign of a depreciation in value and at least once a year. 

 

In line with IAS 36, the method used by the group to test for a loss in the value of assets consists in: 

- establishing cash flow after tax based on the strategy of the CGU in question; 

- determining the useful value of the asset using a method which is similar to that used to assess 

the value of a business by discounting cash flow according to the Weighted Average Cost of 

Capital (WACC) for the sector; 

- comparing this useful value to the book value of the asset in question in order to establish 

whether or not there is a loss in value. 

The useful value is based on discounted forecasts for future operating cash flow over a period of 5 

years and on a terminal value. The discounted rate used in these calculations is the WACC after tax. 
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At 30 June 2011, no evidence of a loss in value has been identified and no impairment test has been 

carried out. 

5.2 Intangible assets (excluding goodwill) 

Research and development 

Research expenses incurred for the purposes of gaining understanding and new scientific or technical 

knowledge are booked as expense when they are incurred. 

Development activities imply the existence of a plan or model for the production of new products 

and processes or for substantial improvements to them. Development expense is booked as a fixed 

asset if and only if the costs can be measured in a reliable manner and the Group can demonstrate 

the technical and commercial feasibility of the product or process, the existence of likely future 

economic benefits and its intention as well as the availability of sufficient resources to complete the 

development and use or sell the asset. The expense that is written to assets includes the costs of 

materials, direct labour, general expenses that can be directly attributed to preparing the asset to be 

used in the scheduled manner and the capitalised borrowing costs. Other development expense is 

booked as expense when it is incurred. 

Development expense booked as an asset are booked at cost, minus any cumulative amortisation 

and cumulative depreciation. 

The other intangible fixed assets acquired are booked at cost, minus any cumulative amortisation 

and cumulative depreciation. 

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 

5.3 Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are valued at cost, minus any cumulative amortisation and depreciation. 

Depreciation is booked as expense according to the straight-line method over the estimated useful 

life of each tangible fixed asset. 

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 

Category of fixed assets Useful  l i fe

Cl ient base Stra ight-l ine: 12 years

Software Stra ight-l ine: 3 to 5 years

Brands Stra ight-l ine: 4 to 5 years

Development expenses Stra ight-l ine: 5 years

Category of fixed assets Useful  l i fe

bui lding on own land Stra ight-l ine: 15 to 20 years

bui lding on leasehold land Stra ight-l ine: 10 to 20 years

Plant and equipment Stra ight-l ine: 5 to 10 years

Other tangible fixed assets Stra ight-l ine: up to 10 years
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Leasing contracts that result in the transfer to the group of nearly all the risks and benefits inherent 

in the ownership of an asset are classified as lease finance contracts.  

5.4 Inventories 
The cost of inventories is evaluated by batch at the cost price and includes the purchase costs for raw 

materials, production or transformation costs, the suitable share of the indirect costs based on the 

normal production capacity and the other costs incurred in order to transport them to the location 

where they are and in the condition that they are.  

Inventories are evaluated at the lower of the price and the net realisable value. 

5.5 Financial instruments 

5.5.1 Non-derivative financial assets 

The Group holds the following non-derivative financial assets: deposits and guarantees, non-

consolidated securities, receivables, cash equivalents and financial assets held for sale. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets consist of deposits and guarantees and non-consolidated securities. They are booked 

at fair value, and in the rare cases when the fair value cannot be obtained, they are evaluated at 

historical cost. 

When there is an objective indication of depreciation, significant and sustainable depreciation is 

booked to the income statement. 

Trade and other receivables 

Accounts receivable are valued at their fair value when they are first booked and then at their 

amortised cost, minus any depreciation in value. A provision for depreciation is booked when there is 

a collection risk (even partial) on receivables. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include liquidities, bank current accounts, very short-term investment 

securities that can be easily converted into liquidities and which do not have any significant risk of a 

change in value. 

5.5.2 Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities include borrowings and bank overdrafts. 

Except when hedged for fair value, financial liabilities are valued at amortised cost according to the 

effective interest rate method. 

5.5.3 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

The Group has derivative financial instruments in order to hedge its exposure to interest and foreign 

exchange rates.  
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When the hedge is initially designated, the Group formally documents the relation between the 

hedging instrument and the hedged instrument, the risk management strategies and the strategy 

followed when the hedge is set up, as well as the methods that will be used to assess the 

effectiveness of the hedging relation. The Group assess, when the hedging relation is set up and 

continuously, if it expects the hedging instruments to be "highly effective" in order to offset the 

changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged items over the period for which the hedge is 

designated. 

For a cash flow hedge relating to a scheduled transaction, it must be highly likely that the transaction 

will take place and this transaction must have exposure to the changes in cash flow that in the end 

could impact the result. 

Derivatives are booked initially at fair value. After the initial recognition, derivatives are valued at fair 

value and the resulting changes are booked using the methods described hereinabove. 

Cash flow hedges 

When a derivative is designated as a hedging instrument in a change in cash flow hedge that can be 

attributed to a particular risk associated with a booked asset or liability or with a scheduled 

transaction that is highly likely and which could impact the result, the effective portion of the 

changes in the fair value of the derivative is booked in other components of the overall result and is 

presented in the hedging reserve in shareholders' equity. The amount booked in other components 

of the overall result is removed and is included in the income statement for the period during which 

the hedged cash flow impacts the result; this amount is booked on the same overall result line as the 

hedged item.  

Any ineffective portion in the changes in the fair value of the derivative is immediately booked to the 

income statement. 

The group has set up rate swaps in order to cover its risks on cash flow. 

Fair value hedging 

A fair value hedge is a hedge for exposure to the changes in the fair value of a booked asset or 

liability, or of a non-recognised firm commitment, which can impact the result. 

For hedging existing assets and liabilities, the hedged portion of these items is valued on the balance 

sheet at its fair value. The change in this fair value is booked on the income statement where it is 

offset by the symmetric changes in the fair value of the hedging financial instruments. 

In order to hedge its foreign exchange risk, the group has set up foreign exchange hedges on its 

borrowings in foreign currency.  

5.6 Activities, assets and liabilities held for sale 

In application of IFRS 5, those assets and liabilities that are held for immediate sale in their present 

state and are very likely to be sold are booked to the balance sheet under assets and liabilities held 

for sale. When a group of assets is held for sale in a single transaction, the group is booked as a single 
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unit as are all related liabilities. The sale must take place within one year of the asset or group of 

assets being booked. 

The assets or group of assets held for sale are valued at the lowest price between their net 

accounting value and the net fair value of the cost of the sale. Non-current assets booked as held for 

sale are no longer amortised once they are booked to the balance sheet. 

Income from activities that have been discontinued is booked separately from income generated by 

activities that are ongoing and their cash flow is booked to a separate line on the cash flow 

statement. 

5.7 Employee benefits 

Benefits after employment granted by the Group vary according to the legal obligations and the 

policy of each subsidiary in this matter. They include defined contribution schemes and defined 

benefit schemes. 

With regards to defined contribution schemes, the Group's obligations are limited to the payment of 

periodical contributions to outside organisations that provide the administrative and financial 

management for them. The expense booked concerning these plans corresponds to the 

contributions paid during the period of reference. 

In accordance with IAS 19, only defined benefit schemes create future commitments for the Group. 

These are formed of the obligations that result from retirement plans and employment termination 

indemnities.  

These commitments are evaluated periodically by independent actuaries, based on hypotheses 

which can vary over time. In most cases, these obligations are pre-financed by employer and 

employee contributions through external funds, which form separate legal entities for which the 

investments are subject to the fluctuations in the financial markets.  

The Group books, for defined benefit schemes, the entire actuarial differences and the entire 

amount of the expense for defined contribution schemes as payroll expense. 

5.8 Provisions 

A provision is booked when the Group has a current legal or implicit obligation resulting from a past 

event, when the obligation can be estimated in a reliable manner and when it is likely that an outflow 

of resources representing economic benefits will be necessary in order to extinguish the obligation. 

The amount of the provision is determined by discounting expected future cash flows at the rate, 

before tax, reflecting current appreciation in the market of the time value of money and the specific 

risks concerning this liability. The impact of the accretion is booked as financial expense. 

5.9 Asset sales 

The proceeds from asset sales are entered in the income statement when the material risks and 

benefits inherent in the ownership of the assets have been transferred to the purchaser. 
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Consolidated revenue consists of the total sales (excluding tax) resulting from the ordinary activities 

of consolidated group companies, after elimination of internal operations. 

5.10 Operating segments 

In application of IFRS 8 on operating segments, the Group defines an operating segment as a 

component of an entity: 

- that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 

- whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity's chief operating decision-maker to 

make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance,  

- and for which discrete financial information is available. 

The internal reporting provided to Naturex's President and CEO and Vice-President is structured in 

the same way as the group's management, i.e. according to the following three geographic regions: 

- Americas: including Naturex Inc, Naturex Ingredientes Naturais Ltda (ex-Exnama) and Naturex Inc 

Canada; 

- Europe, Africa, Russia: including the companies in the Naturex SA group, Naturex Spa, Naturex 

Ltd (ex-Overseal Natural Ingredients), SCI Les Broquetons, Naturex Morocco, Naturex UK Ltd, 

Naturex AG (ex-Obipektin AG), Naturex SL (ex-Xerutan SL), Naturex GMBH, Naturex SPRL and 

Naturex LLC (ex-Natraceutical Russia OOO). 

- Asia: including group companies Naturex Trading Shanghai, KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd (ex 

Kingfood Australia Pty Ltd), Naturex Australia Pty Ltd, Naturex Japan and Naturex Korea. 

The group distinguishes and presents its operating segments based on the information reported to 

the group's management. 

5.11 Income tax 

Income tax includes tax payable and deferred tax. Payable and deferred taxes are booked to the 

income statement except when they are attached to a business combination or to components that 

are booked directly as shareholders' equity or as other components of the overall result. 

Tax payable is (i) the estimated amount of the tax owed (or to be received) in terms of the taxable 

profit (or loss) for a period, determined by using the tax rates that have been adopted or which are 

practically adopted on the date of reporting, and (ii) any adjustment of the amount of the tax 

payable in terms of prior periods. Tax payable also includes any tax debt generated by the 

declaration of dividends. 

Accounting treatment or corrections carried out in the consolidation can result in a change in the 

results of the consolidated companies. The timing differences that appear on the balance sheet 

between the consolidated values and the tax values of the corresponding assets and liabilities give 

rise to the calculation of deferred taxes. 

In accordance with IAS 12, the Group presents deferred taxes on the consolidated balance sheet 

separately from the other assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are written to the balance sheet 
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when it is more likely than not that they will be recovered in later years. Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not discounted. 

In order to assess the capacity of the Group in recovering these assets, the following items in 

particular are taken into account: 

- forecasts of future taxable income; 

- history of taxable income for prior years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are valued using the balance sheet liability method, i.e. using the 

tax rate for which the application is expected over the period during which the asset will be carried 

out or the liability settled, based on the tax rate (and tax regulations) which have been adopted or 

which are practically adopted on the date of closing, taking any increases or decreases in the rates in 

the future into account. 

The valuation for deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would result 

from the way in which the company expects, on the closing date, to recover or settle the book value 

of these assets and liabilities. 

5.12 Earnings per share 

Earnings and diluted earnings per share are presented for the results as a whole. 

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income for the period attributable to 

holders of shares by the average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period, adjusted 

for own shares. 

When calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit attributable to shares and the average 

number of shares in circulation are adjusted for the effects of all the potentially dilutive ordinary 

shares. 

 

5.13 Employee equity compensation 

In accordance with IFRS 2 "Share-based payment", the fair value of the subscription or purchase 

options and the offers reserved for employees who hold shares in the Group are valued on the day 

they are granted. 

The value of subscription and purchase options is in particular according to the strike price, the 

probability that the conditions will be met for exercising the option, the lifespan of the option, the 

current price of the underlying shares, expected volatility of the price of the share, the expected 

dividends and the risk-free interest rate over the lifespan of the option. This value is recorded as 

payroll expense in a straight-line manner over the period the rights are acquired with a direct 

counterparty in equity for plans that are settled in shares and as a debt with regards to personnel for 

plans that are settled in cash. 
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NOTE 6 GOODWILL 

 

Goodwill is subject to annual impairment tests. As no evidence of a loss in value has been identified, 

no additional test was carried out over the course of the half year. 

 

Depreciation tests were carried out on 31 December 2010.  The hypotheses that were retained are as 

follows: 

- cash flow at 5 years based on realised cash flow in 2010 and the forecasts for the next 4 financial 

years based on the projections given in the group's business plan and its former consolidation. 

These projections are primarily indexed on past experience and adjusted for future medium- and 

long-term market forecasts; 

- after-tax discount rate of 7.82 %, calculated each year according to the WACC method (Weighted 

Average Cost of Capital); 

- a terminal value with no indefinite growth rate 

 

The discount rate used is an after-tax rate. The application of a rate before tax has no impact when 

calculating the useful value of CGUs.  

Sensitivity to the discount rate was calculated on 31 December 2010, in order to ensure that the 

recoverable value is equal to the book value. The discount rates obtained were much higher than 

that used by the Group and showed that there is no risk of impairment. 

In thousands of euros
31/12/2010 Acquisitions Translation differences 30/06/2011

Americas 38 502  -  -2 544 35 958

Europe / Africa / Russia 42 782  - 279 43 058

Asia 2 584  -  -67 2 517

Total 83 867  -  -2 332 81 534
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NOTE 7 NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

7.1 Acquisitions and disposals 

At 30 June 2011, gross values on fixed assets break down as follows: 

 

 

The main investments concern production and research and development laboratory equipment. 

Disposal Translation

In thousands of euros
or scrapping differences

Goodwill : 83 867  -  -  -  -2 332 81 534

Intangible : 9 201 62 2 217  -79 12 11 413

Clients 2 523  - 497  - 32 3 052

Softw are and brands 3 688 62 679  - 2 4 431

Development expenses 2 762  - 971  -79  -3 3 651

Fixed assets in progress 228  - 70  -  -19 279

Tangible : 138 388  -62 5 130  -132  -1 134 142 190

Land 11 229  -  -  -20 205 11 414

Buildings and improvments 67 474 799 2 174  -15  -318 70 114

Plant and equipment 51 359 384 1 373  -9  -885 52 222

Other intangible f ixed assets 6 370  -53 920  -60  -98 7 078

Fixed assets in progress 1 956  -1 191 662  -27  -38 1 362

Financial assets : 1 931  - 371  -250 1 2 053

Equity investments 1 546  -  -  -  - 1 546

Loans 27  -  -  -6  -2 18

Deposits and guarantees 358  - 371  -244 3 488

Total 233 387 7 718  -461  -3 453 237 191

Transfers01/01/2011 Acquisitions 30/06/2011
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At 31 December 2010, gross values on fixed assets break down as follows: 

 

7.2 Amortisation and depreciation 

At 30 June 2011, amortization and depreciation on fixed assets break down as follows: 

 

 

01/01/2010 Disposal Translation 31/12/2010

En milliers d'euros
or scrapping differences

Goodwill : 74 091  - 3 689  -  - 6 087 83 867

Intangible : 4 468 140 683 3 854 133 189 9 201

Clients  -  - 883 1 547  - 94 2 523

Softw are and brands 3 130 75  -200 747 122 57 3 688

Development expenses 1 264  -  - 1 469  - 29 2 762

Fixed assets in progress 74 65  - 91 12 9 228

Tangible : 119 231  -140  -66 11 978 391 7 776 138 388

Land 5 223 4 563  - 202 20 1 260 11 229

Buildings and improvments 62 626  -3 672 4 531 59 4 048 67 474

Plant and equipment 45 092 81  -66 4 299 148 2 101 51 359

Other intangible f ixed assets 4 057 568 1 619 163 290 6 370

Fixed assets in progress 2 232  -1 680 1 327  - 77 1 956

Financial assets : 2 579  -  -629 76 133 38 1 931

Equity investments 2 175  -  -629  -  - 1 546

Loans 37  -  -  - 14 3 27

Deposits and guarantees 366  -  - 76 119 35 358

Non current assets               held 

for sale:
802  -  -  - 802  -  -

Total 201 170  - 3 677 15 908 1 459 14 091 233 387

Transfers Acquisitions

Fair value 

adjustment and 

acquisitions costs

Disposals or scrapping Provisions Translation 30/06/2011

In thousands of euros mises au rebut differences

Intangible: 2 891 22 838  -79  - 7 3 679

Clients 197  - 120  -  - 5 321

Softw are and brands 1 817 27 397  -  - 3 2 243

Development expenses 871  - 321  -79  -  - 1 114

Other intangible f ixed assets 5  -5  -  -  -  -  -

Tangible: 46 075  -22 5 359  -55  -  -939 50 418

Buildings and improvments 13 776  - 2 280  -3  -  -167 15 886

Plant and equipment 28 739  - 2 560  -6  -  -719 30 574

Other tangible f ixed assets 3 560  -22 519  -47  -  -52 3 958

Financial assets: 1 206  -  -  -  -  - 1 206

Equity investment 1 206  -  -  -  -  - 1 206

Total 50 172  - 6 197  -134  -  -932 55 302

01/01/2011 Transfers Contributions
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At 31 December 2010, amortization and depreciation on fixed assets break down as follows: 

 

NOTE 8 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

An evaluation of the fair value of the Group's financial instruments is carried out when the data from 

the financial markets allows for a pertinent estimation of their market value in a non-liquidating 

context. 

 

Future cash flow is discounted at a rate of 7.82%. 

Investment securities (level 1 fair value) and derivative instruments (level 2 fair value) are the only 

financial instruments that are valued at fair value.  

Disposals or scrapping Provisions Translation 31/12/2010

In thousands of euros mises au rebut differences

Intangible: 1 465 1 465 80  - 40 2 891

Clients  -  - 189  -  - 8 197

Softw are and brands 1 034 834 80  - 30 1 817

Development expenses 431 438  - 2 871

Other intangible f ixed assets  - 5  - 5

Tangible: 35 537  - 9 849 396  -2 1 087 46 075

Buildings and improvments 9 011 320 4 132 3  -2 319 13 776

Plant and equipment 24 246  -872 4 894 133  - 604 28 739

Other tangible f ixed assets 2 280 552 824 260  - 164 3 560

Financial assets: 1 206  -  -  -  - 1 206

Equity investment 1 206  -  -  -  - 1 206

Non-current assets held for sale 7  -  -  -  -7  -  -

Total 38 216  - 11 315 477  -9 1 128 50 172

01/01/2010 Transfers Contributions

In thousands of euros

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Loans  and depos its  and guarantees Prêts  et créances 507 507 384 384

Equity investments , net AFS 340 340 340 340

Non-current asset derivative instruments Acti fs  en juste va leur par le bia is  du compte de résultat 130 130 546 546

current asset derivative instruments Acti fs  en juste va leur par le bia is  du compte de résultat 87 87 267 267

Cash and cash equiva lents Prêts  et créances 12 157 12 157 17 460 17 460

Sub-total - Financial assets 13 221 13 221 18 997 18 997

Guaranteed bank loans Pass i fs  au coût amorti 111 968 121 466 117 101 127 035

Lease finance contracts Pass i fs  au coût amorti 229 248 299 325

Debt l inked to holdings Pass i fs  au coût amorti 484 484 891 891

Non-current l iabi l i ty derivative instrumentsPass i fs  en juste va leur, instruments  de couverture 2 024 2 024 2 534 2 534

Current l iabi l i ty derivative instruments Pass i fs  en juste va leur, instruments  de couverture 654 654 702 702

Bank overdrafts Pass i fs  au coût amorti 1 549 1 549 1 293 1 293

Sub-total - Financial liabilities 116 907 126 425 122 821 132 780

Total 103 686 113 205 103 824 113 783

30/06/2011 31/12/2010

Accounting category
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The fair value for derivative financial instruments is as follows: 

 

 

Listed pric Internal model with 

observable 

parameters

Internal model 

with non-

observable 

parameters

In thousands of eurps

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Marketable securi ties 13 13

Asset derivative instruments 217 217

Equity investments 340 340

Liabi l i ty derivative instruments 2 678 2 678

Fair value of the 

class as at 

30/06/2011

In thousands of euros

Total assets Current assets Non-current 

assets

Total liabilities Current 

liabilities

Non-current 

liabilities

Derivatives pertaining to hedging 

accounting
 -  -  - 2 678  654  2 024  

Derivatives pertaining to fair value 

accounting
217  87  130   -  -  -

Net position as at 30/06/2011 217  87  130  2 678  654  2 024  

Net position as at 31/12/2010 813  267  546  3 236  702  2 534  
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NOTE 9 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

The breakdown for the group's deferred taxes is as follows: 

 

NOTE 10 INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS 

The breakdown of inventories by type is as follows:  
 

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 31/12/2010

Provisions IAS 19 122  52  

intangible f ixed assets 294  258  

Tangible f ixed assets 962  996  

Provisions and other liabilities 2 175  2 500  

Deficits that can be carried forw ard 428  358  

Other timing differences 505  518  

Financial instruments 828  1 034  

Deferred tax assets 5 314  5 716  

intangible f ixed assets  (2 984)   (2 930)  

Tangible f ixed assets  (5 340)   (5 405)  

Other timing differences  (3 637)   (2 846)  

Deferred tax liabilities  (11 962)   (11 181)  

In thousands of euros
01/01/2011 Transfers Change

Translation 

differences
30/06/2011

Raw  materials 38 587  -2 458 1 312  -732 36 710

Consumables 954  - 245  -20 1 179

Finished and semi-f inished goods 61 500 2 458 5 447  -1 229 68 176

Work in progress-goods and services  -  -  -  -  -

Total onventories - gross 101 041  - 7 004  -1 981 106 064

Provisions  -2 814  - 1 375 1  -1 438

Total onventories - net 98 227  - 8 379  -1 980 104 626
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NOTE 11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Trade and other client receivables break down as follows: 

 

 

Depreciation in trade receivables evolved as follows: 

 
 

NOTE 12 CASH 

 

 

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 31/12/2010

Trade receivables 48 036 42 507

Social and fiscal receivables 10 655 7 098

Other receivables 2 423 1 608

Total - gross 61 115 51 213

Depreciations  -1 857  -1 565

Total - net 59 257 49 648

Provisions on trade receivables 1 565  - 572  -573  -29 1 535

Depreciations of f iscal receivables  - 328  -  -  -6 322

Total 1 565 328 572  -573  -35 1 857

30/06/2011
In thousands of euros

01/01/2011 Reclassification Allocations Reversals Change

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 31/12/2010

Cash 12 144 17 051

Marketable securities 13 408

Total
12 157 17 460
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NOTE 13 FINANCIAL DEBT 

 

Naturex group's net financial debt stood at € 102.1 million on 30 June 2011, unchanged compared to 

31 December 2010. 

Gross financial debt amounted to € 114.2 million on 30 June 2011, and consisted primarily of the 

structured loan. 

The loan agreement which links the group to its lenders contains a clause regarding compliance with 

the bank covenants on a half-yearly basis.  

At 30 June 2011, these ratios are complied with. 

The breakdown of financial debt according to due date is as follows: 

 

In thousands of euros
01/01/2011 New Repaid Change 30/06/2011

Borrow ings 117 101 6 908  -8 155  -3 887 111 968

Borrow ing linked to f inancial leases 299  -  -68  -2 229

Debt linked to holdings 891  -  -408 484

Sub-total 118 291 6 908  -8 630  -3 889 112 680

Overdrafs 1 293 256  -  - 1 549

Total financial debt 119 585 7 164  -8 630  -3 889 114 230

Current

to 1 year 2 to 5 years up to 5 years

Borrow ings 112 197 12 067 71 619 28 510

Overdrafts 1 549 1 549  -  -

Debt linked to holding 484 484  -  -

Total financial debt as at 30/06/2011 114 230 14 100 71 619 28 510

Total financial debt in % as at 30/06/2011 12,3% 62,7% 25,0%

Total financial debt as at 31/12/2010 119 585 11 146 85 616 22 822

Total financial debt in % as at 31/12/2010 9,3% 71,6% 19,1%

En milliers d'euros

Total
Non-current
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13.1 Long-term financial debt 

Changes in non-current financial debt are as follows: 

 

13.2 Other current financial liabilities 

Changes in other current financial liabilities are as follows: 

 

13.3 Bank overdrafts 

 

As indicated in Note 16.2, at the date on which the accounts were closed, Naturex had two short-

term facilities of € 35 million and $ 7 million respectively.  

At 30 June 2011, these were drawn on for an amount of € 20 million, compared to € 16.3 million at 

31 December 2010. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In thousands of euros
01/01/2011 New Repaid

Transfers less 

than one year
Change 30/06/2011

Borrow ings 108 263 6 586  -11 298  -3 565 99 986

Borrow ings linked to financial leases 176  -  -29  -3 144

Total non-current debt 108 439 6 586  -  -11 328  -3 568 100 129

In thousands of euros
01/01/2011 New Repaid

Transfres more 

than one year
Change 30/06/2011

Borrow ings 8 838 322  -8 155 11 298  -321 11 982

Borrow ings linked to f inancial leases 123  -68 29 85

Debt linked to holding 891  -408  - 484

Total current financial debt 9 852 322  -8 630 11 328  -321 12 551

Bank overdrafts 1 293 256  -  -  - 1 549

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 31/12/2010

Current bank overdrafts 1 549 1 293

Total 1 549 1 293



Half-year financial report 

Fiscal Year 2011 (1 January to 30 June 2011)
 

NATUREX S.A | Half-Year Financial Report 2011 75 

 

 

13.4 Breakdown of financial debt by currency expressed in euro 

The debt broken down by currency after hedging is as follows: 

 

A portion of the debt that was initially denominated in dollars is hedged for € 6.6 million over the 

period. The change in fair value for this hedging instrument generated a financial loss of € 596 

million.  

13.5 Breakdown of financial debt at fixed and variable rates 

 

The debt, which was initially at a variable rate, was swapped for a portion at a fixed rate in 2010.  

The corresponding derivative instruments were taken out starting on 31 March 2010 and details are 

provided in Notes 5.5 and 8. 

 

 

 

In thousands of euros
Total EUROS DOLLARS

SWISS 

FRANCS
OTHER

Borrow ings 112 197 52 007 40 469 19 374 347

Bank overdrafts 1 549 1 400  - 149  -

Debt linked to holdings 484 484  -  -

Total financial debt as at 30/06/2011 114 230 53 891 40 469 19 523 347

Total financial debt in % as at 30/06/2011 47,2% 35,4% 17,1% 0,3%

Total financial debt as at 31/12/2010 119 585 51 296 47 531 20 403 355

Total financial debt in % as at 31/12/2010 42,9% 39,7% 17,1% 0,3%

In thousands of euros Total Fixed rate Variable rate

Borrow ings 112 197 58 853 53 343

Bank overdrafts 1 549  - 1 549

Debt linked to holdings 484 484  -

Total financial debt as at 30/06/2011 114 230 59 337 54 892

Total financial debt in % as at 30/06/2011 51,9% 48,1%

Total financial debt as at 31/12/2010 119 585 66 837 52 748

Total financial debt in % as at 31/12/2010 55,9% 44,1%
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NOTE 14 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

The Swiss commitments were valued based on the projection of the valorisations carried out at 31 

December 2010. 

 

The French and Italian commitments were valued by an actuary on 30 June 2011. 

 

The change in the discounted value for obligations in terms of defined benefits can be described as 

follows: 

 

The change in fair value of the assets in the plan can be described as follows: 

 

 

 

In thousands of euros June 2011 Dec. 2010
Juin

2011

Déc

2010

Juin

2011

Déc

2010

Juin

2011

Déc

2010

Juin

2011

Déc

2010

Fair value of the plan's assets  (8 573)   (8 386)   (8 484)   (8 299)   -   -   (89)   (87)   -   -  

Discounted value of the obligations 11 148  10 588  10 511  10 031  427  434  164  87  45  36  

Deficit (surplus) of the plan 2 575  2 202  2 027  1 732  427  434  75   -  45  36  

Total Swiss Plan Italian Plan French Plan Other Plans

In thousands of euros

June

2011

Discounted value of the obligations at 1 January 10 588  

Services provided by the plan  (402)  

Cost of the services rendered and financial cost 398  

Actuarial (losses) and gains booked to income 40  

Employees cotisations 158  

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 366  

Discounted value of the obligations as at 30 June 11 148  

In thousands of euros

June

2011

Fair value of the plan's assets at 1 January 8 386  

Contributions paid to the plan 182  

Services provided by the plan  (382)  

Expected return on the assets of the plan 153  

Actuarial (losses) and gains booked to income  (215)  

Employees cotisations 158  

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 291  

Discounted value of the obligations at 31 December 8 573  
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The expense booked to the income statement can be described as follows: 

 

The main actuarial hypotheses retained on the date of closing are as follows: 

 

The hypotheses for mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

 

NOTE 15 CURRENT PROVISIONS 

 

No major liabilities were booked on 30 June 2011. 

In thousands of euros

June

2011

Cost of the services rendered and financial costs 398  

Actuarial difference booked to the income statement 255  

Expected return on assets of the plan  (153)  

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 75  

Employers contribution  (202)  

Expense booked to the income statement 373  

In thousands of euros

June

2011

Discount rate as at 31 December (CHF) 3,25%

Discount rate as at 30 June (EUR zone) 4,60%

Wage rate of increase

from 2% to 6% aaccording to professional categories and years-old

Expected rate of return on assets(CHF) 3,75%

In thousands of euros
01/01/2011 Reclassification Allowances Reversals Change 30/06/2011

Other provisions 632  -328  -  -301  -3  -

Total provisions 632  -328  -  -301  -3  -
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NOTE 16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The main risks that are likely to have a direct impact on the group’s consolidated statements are set 

out and assessed below.  

- Credit risk 

- Liquidity risk 

- Exchange rate risk 

- Interest-rate risk 

The group’s exposure to non-financial risks is reviewed in the management report of the registration 

document. 

16.1 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss for the group should a client fail to meet its contractual 

obligations. 

First of all, this risk is limited for several reasons, notably the extensive client base. As such, over 

financial year 2010, the group’s top 10 clients accounted for 20% of revenue, the top 20 for 28% and 

the top 30 for 34%, compared to 16%, 24% and 29% respectively in 2010. 

16.2 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group may fail to honour its debts when they reach their term. 
 

Naturex's policy regarding the management of its liquidity risk is to ensure, through a group wide 

daily cash management system, that it always has sufficient funds to honour its liabilities when they 

reach their term, both under normal and "difficult" conditions and without incurring losses that may 

prove harmful to the group's reputation. 
 

The structured loan set in place on 30 December 2009, has a short-term tranche of € 20 million. 

During the period, an additional tranche of € 15 million was granted. At 30 June 2011, these were 

drawn on for an amount of € 20 million. 

The American subsidiary has a short-term authorisation of $ 7 million, which was not used at 30 June 

2011. 
 

The group's overdraft facilities and outstanding amounts at the close of the year are presented in 

Note 13.3. 

The loan agreement which links the group to its lenders contains a clause regarding compliance with 

two bank ratios which will be assessed every six months. These ratios are (i) gearing which is defined 

by the ratio of net financial debt to total equity and (ii) financial leverage which is defined by the 

ratio of net financial debt to EBITDA. 

In the event that (i) the group was unable to uphold these contractual ratios and (ii) the majority of 

lenders were in agreement, the lenders may request the repayment of the corresponding loan. 

 

These ratios were complied with at 30 June 2011. 
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16.3 Exchange rate risk 

Naturex group carries out most of its transactions in foreign currencies and therefore incurs an 

exchange rate risk due to variations in the rates of these currencies. The group is primarily exposed 

to fluctuations in the dollar (46.7% of the revenue is billed in dollars), in the pound sterling (8.2%) 

and in the Swiss franc (6.6%) at 31 December 2010. 

These three currencies as well as the euro represented 99.5% of the Group's revenue. The financial 

debt was restructured in 2009 in line with this change (see Note 13 – Financial Debt). 

The strong appreciation of the Swiss Franc (+13% over the period) and its acceleration in the last few 

weeks could have an impact on the competiveness of the group's Swiss industrial subsidiary if this 

situation were to persist.  

16.4 Interest-rate risk 

The group's interest-rate risk is essentially linked to its variable-rate and bank loans. 

The group's policy is to use derivative financial instruments only for the purposes of hedging its 

financial flows; these instruments do not correspond to speculative operations. 
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NOTE 17 OPERATING SEGMENTS 

The operating segments are defined in Note 5.10. 
The figures for each operating segment are set out below: 
 
At 30 June 2011 

 
 

 
At 30 June 2011 

 
 

 
At 30 June 2010 

 
 

 
At 31 December 2010 

 

There are no single clients that represent over 10% of group revenues. 

 

 

In thousands of euros
Americas

Europe/Africa/Ru

ssia
Asia/Pacific Total sectors Restatements

Inter-sector 

eliminations
Consolidated

Revenue 44 120 77 426 6 379 127 924  -  - 127 924

Inter-sector revenue 4 072 56 921 2 229 63 223  -  -63 223  -

Tangible and intangible amortisation  -942  -4 899  -90  -5 931  -300 35  -6 197

Operating income (sectors) 3 182 12 356 193 15 731 102 196 16 029

Financial income  -  -  -  -  -  -  -1 887

Tax  -  -  -  -4 408  -  -  -4 408

Net income  -  -  - 9 734  -  - 9 734

In thousands of euros
Americas

Europe / Africa / 

Russia
Asia-Pacific Total sectors

Total assets 96 564 257 025 10 681 364 271

Total acquisitions of intangible unvestments 371 1 844 1 2 217

Total acquisitions of tangible investments 1 058 3 951 124 5 133

Total liabilities 16 430 168 403 3 567 188 400

In thousands of euros
Americas

Europe/Africa/Ru

ssia
Asia/Pacific Total sectors Restatements

Inter-sector 

eliminations
Consolidated

Revenue 39 925 65 631 6 533 112 090  -  - 112 090

Inter-sector revenue 4 663 42 990 3 094 50 747  -  -50 747  -

Tangible and intangible amortisation  -983  -4 332  -64  -5 380  -  -  -5 380

Operating income (sectors) 4 750 7 551 1 313 13 614  - 674 14 287

Financial income  -  -  -  -  -  -  -3 093

Tax  -  -  -  -3 591  -  -  -3 591

Net income  -  -  - 7 603  -  - 7 603

In thiousands of euros
Americas

Europe / Africa / 

Russia
Asia-Pacific Total sectors

Total assets 99 036 248 662 10 442 358 141

Total acquisitions of intangible unvestments 78 3 776  - 3 854

Total acquisitions of tangible investments 1 930 9 651 332 11 912

Total liabilities 17 747 168 100 3 531 189 378
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Revenue by business breaks down as follows: 

 

NOTE 18 PAYROLL EXPENSES 

18.1  Number of employees 

 

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Food & Beverage 78 424 66 692

Nutrition & Health 40 357 38 269

Personal care 1 173 1 226

Toll & Miscellaneous 7 971 5 903

TOTAL 127 925 112 090

Headcount 30/06/2011 31/12/2010

Naturex Inc 176                     179                     

Naturex Ingredientes Naturais Ltda. 26                      24                      

Total Américas 202                            203                            

Naturex SA 240                     229                     

Naturex Maroc 96                      93                      

Naturex S.p.A 78                      83                      

Naturex AG 144                     133                     

Naturex Ltd 87                      83                      

Naturex Spain 42                      36                      

Naturex LLC 7                        3                        

Naturex GMBH 8                        6                        

Naturex SPRL 4                        3                        

Total Europe / Africa / Russia 706                            669                            

Naturex Australia 9                        9                        

KF Specialty Ingredients Pty Ltd 21                      22                      

Naturex Trading Shanghai Co., Ltd. 14                      13                      

Naturex Corée 2                        

Naturex K.K 2                        

Total Asia / Pacific 48                              44                              

Total Group 956                             916                             
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18.2  Stock options 

At € 45,000, the value of options has been calculated using the Black and Scholes valuation model 

and booked in accordance with IFRS 2 under payroll expenses. 

Employee benefits in the form of stock options are calculated according to the Libor rate applying on 

the date the plan was implemented. Volatility reflects the yearly average of the 20 trading sessions 

preceding the date of allocation. The term of maturity corresponds to the average time between the 

date the options are allocated and the date on which they may be exercised, i.e. 4 years. Options 

may not be exercised during the three years following the date they are allocated. As the dividend 

paid by Naturex is very low, no hypotheses are put forward. 

The fair value of the benefits granted in respect of the plan approved by the Board of Directors on 15 

April 2011 amounts to € 573 thousand.  

The various stock option plans are summarised in the following table: 

 

 

 

Plan n°9 Plan n°10 Plan n°11 Plan n°12 Plan n°13 Plan n°14

Date of the Shareholders 'meeting 28/06/2004 14/06/2006 30/06/2007 30/06/2008 30/06/2009 30/06/2010

Date of the Board meeting 23/03/2006 27/03/2007 25/03/2008 13/03/2009 26/04/2010 15/04/2011

Type of option Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscription

Start date for the exercise of options 23/03/2009 27/03/2010 25/03/2011 13/03/2012 26/04/2013 15/04/2014

Expiry date 23/03/2011 27/03/2012 25/03/2013 13/03/2014 26/04/2015 15/04/2016

Purchase of subscription price 45,15             49,65             27,54             24,00           30,12           45,33           

Number of options  a l located to: 39 196 23 929 47 362 53 650 52 150 57 094

Executive officers 30 500 13 000 33 000 33 000 26 000 26 000

Employees 8 696 10 929 14 362 20 650 26 150 31 094

o/w 10 employees having received the largest allocations 4 495 4 560 5 600 10 500 12 200 12 000

Number of shares  subscribed or cancel led at 31/12/2009 39 196           3 807             4 018             1 856           1 660           -                

Number of shares  exercised over the period -                  -                  -                  -                -                -                

Number of shares  cancel led over the period -                  132                132                230              362              -                

Purchase or subscription options outstanding 0 19 990 43 212 51 564 50 128 57 094
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NOTE 19 EXTERNAL EXPENSES AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

 

The majority of Naturex's development costs do not satisfy the criteria for fixed assets stipulated in 

IAS 38, notably as regards their future economic benefit.  These are booked as an expense in the 

amount of € 1.4 million for H1 2011. 

However, over the course of the year, the expenses linked to projects given their significant potential 

in terms of technical success and profitability were booked.  

The projects concern the Italian and Spanish companies. 

The Italian project involves the obtaining and compliance in terms of EDMFs (European Drug Master 

Files) enabling it to conform to European regulations governing plant-based medication and allowing 

Naturex S.p.A. to continue to market certain products on this market as well as adding to its 

pharmacy-approved range of extracts. The project expenses committed and booked under fixed 

assets for the period amount to € 200 thousand. 

The Spanish SENIFOOD project is approved by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation. The 

purpose of this project is to define specially-developed ranges for the elderly in order to offer food 

that is adapted to them. The project expenses committed and booked under fixed assets for the 

period amount to € 743 thousand. 

 

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Non-immobilised purchases 8 732 6 911

Outsourcing 1 795 1 540

Leasing 2 110 1 771

Maintenance 2 412 1 896

Insurance 1 024 666

Fees 3 704 3 339

Advertising, trade fairs, exhibitions 859 599

Transport costs 6 463 5 251

Travel 2 411 2 108

Telecommunications 627 582

Miscellaneous 1 030 656

Total 31 167 25 319
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NOTE 20 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

 
NOTE 21 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 

21.1 Cost of net financial debt 

 

21.2 Other financial income and expenses 

 

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Other expenses 192 846

Provisions for current assets 653 1 466

Provisions for current assets  - 5

Disposals of f ixed assets 32 6

Provision on assets held for sale  - 149

Total 878 2 474

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Financial income 138 54

Interest and related expenses  -2 938  -2 810

Cost of net financial debt  -2 800  -2 756

In thousands of euros
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Exchange rate losses  -8  -3 303

Exchange rate gains 921 2 966

Other financial income and expenses 913  -337
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NOTE 22 INCOME TAX 

Breakdown of deferred taxes/taxes payable in the income statement 

 

 

Reconciliation between the theoretical and actual tax expense 

 

The tax rate for the group over the period is 31%, compared to 32% in H1 2010. 

 

Breakdown of booked deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 

Temporary differences are booked to expenses or to deferred tax income. 

 

 

In thousand of euros
 30/06/2011  30/06/2010 

Tax payable 3 274  3 174  

Deferred tax 1 134  416  

Total tax 4 408  3 591  

In thousands of euros

Net income 9 735  

Tax booked (4 408)  

Net income before tax 14 143  

Theoretical tax 4 714  

Impact of local tax rate (721)  

Impact of permanent differences 415  

Tax booked 4 408  

In thousands of euros
 Assets  Liabilities  Net liabilities 

Temporary differences 5 314   (11 962)   (6 648)  
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NOTE 23 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Group's policy is to maintain a solid capital base, in order to preserve the trust of investors, 

creditors and the market and to support the future development of operations.  

23.1 Capital management 

Ordinary and preferred shares 

At 30 June 2011, the parent company capital consisted of 6,411,000 shares as well as at 31 December 

2010. All shares have a par value of € 1.50. 

At 30 June 2011, these shares include 1,406,000 shares with no voting rights. 

These shares had been issued as part of the acquisition of the Ingredients Division of Natraceutical 

on December 30, 2009 will be assigned voting rights once they are sold to third party, Natra group, 

and, for any sale exceeding 5% of the capital, once the transaction has been approved by the Board 

of Directors of Naturex SA. 

All of the shares issued were fully paid up. 

Holders of ordinary shares have the right to any dividends decided upon and benefit from a voting 

right at the annual general meetings.  

Holders of preferential shares also have the right to any dividends decided upon, but do not benefit 

from a voting right at the annual general meetings.  

Translation differences 

Translation reserves include all exchange rate differences following the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign entities, as well as the translation of liabilities booked under investments in the 

financial statements of a foreign entity. 

Shares held by the company 

Equity reserves include the cost of the shares in the company held by the group. At 30 June 2011, 

Naturex group held 7,934 shares in the company. 

The group acquired its own shares on the market, for the purposes of granting purchase options to 

its employees.  

Moreover, the group took out a liquidity contract managed by an independent service provider. 
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23.2 Diluted earnings per share 

 

In terms of financial year 2010, the shareholders' annual meeting approved the payment of a 

dividend of € 0.10 per share, with shareholders having the option of receiving all or part of their 

dividend in cash or in the form of shares with a discount of 10% on their reference market price. 

In 2010, the dividend paid for fiscal year 2009 was € 0.11 per share. 

NOTE 24 RELATED PARTIES AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS 

24.1 Related parties 

The total gross compensation of Naturex’s management bodies amounted to € 980 thousand for H1 

2011 compared to € 834 thousand for H1 2010. Compensation includes all remuneration, benefits in 

kind and stock options allocated over the period. It is paid by Naturex Inc. (€ 587 thousand) and 

Naturex S.A. (€ 394 thousand). Members of Naturex's management bodies do not benefit from any 

long-term benefits. 

One transaction linked to SGD, which holds 15.98% of Naturex's capital and 20.15% of the Company's 

voting rights, was carried out: contribution by Naturex SA of € 3,000 to the company's current 

account which amounted to a total of € 483 thousand at the close of the period. 

At 25 August 2011, on the date this document was filed, SGD held 12.10% of the capital and 15.18% 

of the voting rights. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30/06/2011 30/06/2010

Group net income (in thousands of euros) 9 735 7 621

Number of shares making up the capital 6 410 931 6 387 192

Earbings per share 1,5186 1,1932

Number of options outstanding 221 988 202 455

Diluted earnings per share 1,4677 1,1565
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24.2 Off-balance sheet commitments 

 

Commitments received

In thousands of euros

Commitments linked to the financing of the company

Credit lines 34 200 24 490

Commitments linked to the activity of the company

Guarantee governing the transport of alcohol Unlimited Unlimited

Commitments given

In thousands of euros

Commitments linked to the financing of the company

Fuarantees of subsidiary commitments 6 521 7 966

Pledging of securities and/or business assets as part of the structured loan agreement 106 693 111 907

Commitments linked to the activit of the company

Guarantees for customs off ices 899 1 273

Guarantees for suppliers 265 123

30/06/2011 31/12/2010

30/06/2011 31/12/2010
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AUDITORS' REPORT 

ON THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR HALF-YEAR 2011 
 

Period from 1 January 2011 to 30 June 2011 

 

To the shareholders, 

 

In execution of the mission entrusted to us by the shareholders' meeting and in application of Article 

L.451-1-2 III of the French Monetary and Financial Code, we have: 

- carried out a limited examination of the summarised consolidated half-year financial statements 

of Naturex S.A. concerning the period from 1 January 2011 to 30 June 2011, such as they are 

attached to this report; 

- verified the information provided in the half-year management report. 

These summarised consolidated half-year financial statements were drawn up under the 

responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the statements 

based on our limited examination. 

 

 

I – Conclusion on the financial statements 

We conducted our limited examination in accordance with those professional standards generally 

accepted in France. A limited examination primarily consists in meeting with the members of 

management in charge of the accounting and financial aspects and in implementing analytical 

procedures. This work is less extensive than that required for an audit carried out in accordance with 

the professional standards applicable in France. Consequently, the assurance that the financial 

statements, taken as a whole, do not contain any significant anomalies obtained within the 

framework of a limited examination is moderate assurance, and is not as high as that obtained within 

the framework of an audit. 

Based on our limited examination, we have not detected any significant anomalies of a nature that 

would call into question the compliance of the summarised consolidated half-year financial 

statements with the IAS 34 – IFRS standard as adopted in the European Union concerning interim 

financial reporting. 
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II – Specific verification 

We have also verified the information provided in the half-year management report commenting on 

the summarised consolidated half-year financial statements concerned by our limited examination. 

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the summarised 

consolidated half-year financial statements. 

 

 

Avignon, 24 August 2011 Avignon, 24 August 2011 

 

KPMG S.A. AREs X.PERT Audit 

Luc Rebuffo  Laurent Peyre 

 

 

 


